

คุณลักษณะของโพรไบโอติกแบคทีเรียกรดแลกติกที่สร้างเอนไซม์ไบล์ซอลท์ไฮโดรเลสในการ พัฒนาผลิตภัณฑ์นมหมัก

Characterization of probiotic lactic acid bacteria producing bile-salt hydrolase for

development of fermented milk product

PORNCHANOK PAONGPHAN

GRADUATE SCHOOL Srinakharinwirot University

2018

คุณลักษณะของโพรไบโอติกแบคทีเรียกรดแลกติกที่สร้างเอนไซม์ไบล์ซอลท์ไฮโดรเลส ในการพัฒนาผลิตภัณฑ์นมหมัก



ปริญญานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตร วิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีวภาพการแพทย์ คณะแพทยศาสตร์ มหาวิทยาลัยศรีนครินทรวิโรฒ ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของมหาวิทยาลัยศรีนครินทรวิโรฒ Characterization of probiotic lactic acid bacteria producing bile-salt hydrolase for development of fermented milk product



A Thesis Submitted in partial Fulfillment of Requirements for MASTER OF SCIENCE (Biomedical Sciences) Faculty of Medicine Srinakharinwirot University 2018

Copyright of Srinakharinwirot University

THE THESIS TITLED

CHARACTERIZATION OF PROBIOTIC LACTIC ACID BACTERIA PRODUCING BILE-SALT HYDROLASE FOR DEVELOPMENT OF FERMENTED MILK PRODUCT

ΒY

PORNCHANOK PAONGPHAN

HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE MASTER OF SCIENCE IN BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES AT SRINAKHARINWIROT UNIVERSITY

Dean c

Dean of Graduate School

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Chatchai Ekpanyaskul, MD.)

ORAL DEFENSE COMMITTEE

Major-advisor	Chair
(Asst. Prof.Malai Taweechotipatr, Ph.D.)	(Prof.Somboon Tanasupawat, Ph.D.)
Co-advisor	Committee
(Asst. Prof.Ulisa Pachekrepapol, Ph.D.)	(Asst. Prof.Wanlaya Tanechpongtamb,
	Ph.D.)

Title	Characterization of probiotic lactic acid bacteria producing	
	bile-salt hydrolase for development of fermented milk product	
Author	PORNCHANOK PAONGPHAN	
Degree	MASTER OF SCIENCE	
Academic Year	2018	
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Malai Taweechotipatr , Ph.D.	

Current studies have suggested that probiotic lactic bacteria confers health benefits to the human. One of the benefits of probiotic lactic acid bacteria they can reduce cholesterol by synthesizing bile salt hydrolase. In this study, 55 Isolates of lactic acid bacteria from fermented food were selected to investigate for their potential bile salt hydrolase activity and evaluated for their application in milk product.

In the present study, three isolates including MN, MN2 and SM exhibited the capability to produce the strongest bile salt hydrolase activity. The species identification of these lactic acid bacteria used 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis. It showed that isolate MN was *Lactobacillus paraplantarum*, isolate MN was *Lactobacillus plantarum* and isolate SM was *Lactobacillus gasseri*. After that, the result showed three-strain exhibited good resistance to pH 3.0 and bile concentration at 0.3% and 0.8%. At pH2 all isolates did not survive. All 3 isolates show moderate hydrophobicity. Antibiotic sensitivity tests showed that three isolate showed resistance to nalidixic acid and streptomycin. In addition, the antimicrobial activity against pathogens isolate MN showed low inhibition against *Shigella dysenteria* and isolate SM showed low inhibition against *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and *Shigella dysenteria*. All the three isolates were incapable of exhibiting hemolysis activity. In view of their application in milk product it was found that isolates MN, MN2, SM and Mixed culture could maintain bile salt hydrolase activity in fermented milk products. Thereby, with the properties of good probiotics these strains could be potentially used in health products especially where cholesterol reduction by enzyme bile salt hydrolase in food is the main target.

Keyword : Probiotic lactic acid bacteria Bile salt hydrolase Fermented milk products

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The success and final outcome of this project required a lot of guidance and assistance from many people and I am extremely privileged to have got this all along the completion of my project. All that I have done is only due to such supervision and assistance and I would not forget to thank them.

I respect and thank my advisor, Assst. Prof. Malai Taweechotipatr Ph.D. and coadvisor, Assst. Prof Ulisa Pachekrepapol Ph.D. for providing me an opportunity to do the project on the topic " Characterization of probiotic lactic acid bacteria producing bile-salt hydrolase for development of fermented milk product" and giving us all support and guidance which made me complete the project duly. I am extremely thankful to Assst. Prof. Malai Taweechotipatr and co-advisor, Assst. Prof Ulisa Pachrepapol for providing such a nice support and guidance, although she had busy schedule managing the corporate affairs.

I also would like to thank the Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Srinakharinwirot University for my research. Researchers and staffs Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Srinakharinwirot University and Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Chulalongkorn University for their kind suggestions, helpfulness and encouragement.

Finally, i would also like to thank my parents and friends who helped me a lot in finalizing this project within the limited time frame.

PORNCHANOK PAONGPHAN

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	è
ABSTRACT D	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSE	
TABLE OF CONTENTSF	
LIST OF TABLESK	
LIST OF FIGURES	
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION1	
Hypothesis6	
Objective6	
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW7	
1. Definition of probiotics7	
1.1 Common probiotics7	
1.2 Sources of probiotics7	
1.3 Strain of probiotics8	
1.3.1 Lactobacillus8	
1.3.2 Bifidobacterium9	
2. Probiotic properties10	
2.1 Anti-pathogenic properties10	
2.2 Adhesion properties10	
2.3 Tolerance to gastric acid and bile tolerance10	
2.4 Competitive exclusion of pathogenic microorganism properties	
3. Health benefits of probiotic bacteria11	

3.1 Acute inf	ectious diarrhea	
3.2 Helicoba	cter pylori infection	
3.3 Modulatio	on of immune system	
4. Lactic acid ba	cteria	
5. Gut microbiota	a	
6. Cholesterol		
6.1 Lipoprote	eins	
	6.1.1 Chylomicrons	
	6.1.2 Very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL)	
	6.1.3 Low density lipoproteins (LDL)	
	6.1.4 High density lipoproteins (HDL)	
6.2 High cho	lesterol	
7. Bile		
7.1 Bile salts	synthesis	
7.2 Roles of	bile acids	20
8. Probiotic bacto	eria as cholesterol-lowering	21
8.1 Bile salt I	nydrolase-active probiotic bacteria	21
8.2 Characte	eristics of bile salt hydrolase enzyme	22
8.3 Impact o	f BSH activity on the host	22
8.3.1 C	Cholesterol lowering	22
9. Probiotics in fo	pod products	24
9.1 Probiotic	dairy products	25
9.2 Probiotic	fermented milk (yoghurt)	25

9.3 Beneficial health effects of probiotic products	25
9.3.1 Cardiovascular diseases	26
9.3.2 Lactose intolerance	26
9.3.3 Supports healthy digestion	26
9.3.4 Hypocholesterolemia properties	26
9.4 Commercially used microorganisms for probiotic foods	27
9.5 Doses of probiotics	29
9.6 Development of probiotic foods	29
9.7 Survival of probiotics during processing and storage	30
9.7.1 Fermentation conditions	31
9.8 Storage	31
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY	32
Materials	32
Methods	33
1. Isolation and selection of lactic acid bacteria	33
2. Screening of lactic acid bacteria for bile salt hydrolase activity	33
3. Genotypic characteristics by 16S rRNA gene sequencing	34
4. Phylogenetic analysis in molecular evolutionary genetics	34
5. Acid and bile tolerance test	34
5.1. Acid tolerance	34
5.2. Bile tolerance assay	35
6. Cell surface hydrophobicity	35
7. Hemolytic activity	36

8. Antibiotic resistance
9. Antimicrobial activity against pathogens
10. Fermented milk products using probiotics
11. The quality parameters of probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk 38
11.1 Measurement of viability38
11.2 Measurement of pH38
11.3 Measurement of Acid and bile tolerance test
11.3.1 Bile tolerance assay of selected LAB in fermented milk 38
11.3.2 Acid tolerance of selected LAB in fermented milk
11.4 Measurement of the existence of BSH activity in fermented milk39
11.5 Measurement of texture
11.6 Measurement of syneresis
11.7 Measurement of rheological properties40
12. Statistical analysis40
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS
1. Isolation and selection of lactic acid bacteria41
2. Bile salt hydrolase activity43
3. Genotypic characteristics by 16S rRNA gene sequencing46
4. Phylogenetic analysis in molecular evolutionary genetics
5. Acid and bile tolerance test
5.1 Acid tolerance
5.2 Bile tolerance
6. Cell surface hydrophobicity52

7. Antibiotic susceptibility53
8. Hemolytic activity53
9. Antimicrobial activity against pathogens55
10. Fermented milk products using probiotics
11. The quality parameters of probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk57
11.1. Viability lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk products during storage 57
11.2 pH of fermented milk products during storage58
11.3 Acid and bile tolerance of probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk60
11.3.1 Acid tolerance assay of selected LAB in fermented milk60
11.3.2 Bile tolerance assay of selected LAB in fermented milk61
11.4 The existence of BSH activity probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk
during storage63
11.5 Texture of fermented milk products74
11.6 Syneresis of fermented milk products74
11.7 Rheological properties of fermented milk products76
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION
CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES
VITA

LIST OF TABLES

Page
Table 1 Microorganisms considered as probiotics (48, 49)
Table 2 Health benefits of probiotic bacteria to the host, and speculated mechanisms
involved ⁽⁵⁵⁾
Table 3 Lactic acid bacteria derived probiotics and human health ⁽⁶⁴⁾
Table 4 summarizes findings for cholesterol lowering effects of probiotics ^(98, 99)
Table 5 Some industries strains probiotic commercial used by various industries ⁽¹¹⁴⁾ 28
Table 6 Isolation of lactic acid bacteria 41
Table 7 Bile salt hydrolase of isolate lactic acid bacteria by qualitative direct plate44
Table 8 Genotypic identification of LAB isolates on 16S rRNA gene sequencing46
Table 9 Acid tolerance of selected lactic acid bacteria. 48
Table 10 Bile tolerance of selected lactic acid bacteria
Table 11 Cell surface hydrophobicity of isolates lactic acid bacteria
Table 12 Antibiotic susceptibility pattern of selected lactic acid bacteria53
Table 13 Antimicrobial activity against pathogens of isolated lactic acid bacteria and
zone of inhibition (ZOI) against tested pathogens55
Table 14 Fermentation times (means \pm SD) to reach pH 4.5 for selected probiotic lactic
acid bacteria of single culture and mixed culture used in the manufacturing of fermented
milks
Table 15 Viability of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milks during storage
Table 16 pH in fermented milks during storage 59
Table 17 Acid tolerance pH 3 of probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk
products

Table 18 Acid tolerance pH 2 of probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk
products
Table 19 Bile Tolerance Ox gall 0.3 % test in fermented milk products during storage. 62
Table 20 Bile Tolerance Ox gall 0.8 % test in fermented milk products during storage. 62
Table 21 The existence of BSH activity probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk
during storage63
Table 22 Firmness of fermented milk during storage. 74
Table 23 % Syneresis of fermented milks during storage. 75
Table 24 Rheological characteristics of fermented milk product



LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 1 Basic schematic detailing the properties of an ideal probiotic bacteria ⁽²⁾ 8
Figure 2 Spatial and temporal aspects of intestinal microbiota composition15
Figure 3 Major Types of Lipoproteins18
Figure 4 Structure of the conjugated cholic acids ⁽⁸⁹⁾
Figure 5 (A) Chemical structure of bile acids
Figure 6 Probiotics consumption and health benefits. (107)
Figure 7 Qualitative aspects of probiotic food products. ⁽¹¹⁸⁾
Figure 8 Main factors affecting the viability of probiotic food products and during delivery through gastrointestinal tract. ⁽¹²⁰⁾
Figure 9. Bile salt hydrolase activities of isolate MN on MRS agar; precipitation zone was
presented by white arrow44
Figure 10. Bile salt hydrolase activities of isolate MN2 on MRS agar; precipitation zone
was presented by white arrow
Figure 11. Bile salt hydrolase activities of isolate SM on MRS agar; precipitation zone
was presented by white arrow
Figure 12 Phylogenetic tree based on 16S rRNA gene sequences
Figure 13 Acid tolerance of isolate MN. Values with a different letter are significantly
different (p < 0.05)
Figure 14 Acid tolerance of isolate MN2. Values with a different letter are significantly
different (p < 0.05)
Figure 15 Acid tolerance of isolate SM. Values with a different letter are significantly
different (p < 0.05)

Figure 16 Bile tolerance of isolate MN. Values with a different letter are significantly
different (p < 0.05)
Figure 17 Bile tolerance of isolate MN2. Values with a different letter are significantly
different (p < 0.05)
Figure 18 Bile tolerance of isolate SM. Values with a different letter are significantly
different (p < 0.05)
Figure 19 Hemolytic activities of isolate MN on Blood agar; no zone of clearing around
the colony (γ -hemolysis) were presented by white arrow
Figure 20 Hemolytic activities of isolate MN2 on Blood agar; no zone of clearing around
the colony (γ -hemolysis) were presented by white arrow
Figure 21 Hemolytic activities of isolate SM on Blood agar; no zone of clearing around
the colony (γ -hemolysis) were presented by white arrow
Figure 22 Viability of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milks during storage
Figure 23 pH changes of fermented milks during storage
Figure 24 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day1) on MRS
agar precipitation zone
Figure 25 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day1) on
MRS agar precipitation zone
Figure 26 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day1) on MRS
agar precipitation zone
Figure 27 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage
day1) on MRS agar precipitation zone65
Figure 28 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day7) on MRS
agar precipitation zone
Figure 29 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day7) on
MRS agar precipitation zone

Figure 30 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day7) on MRS
agar precipitation zone67
Figure 31 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage
day7) on MRS agar precipitation zone67
Figure 32 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day14) on
MRS agar precipitation zone
Figure 33 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day14) on
MRS agar precipitation zone
Figure 34 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day14) on
MRS agar precipitation zone
Figure 35 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage
day14) on MRS agar precipitation zone69
Figure 36 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day21) on
MRS agar precipitation zone70
Figure 37 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day21) on
MRS agar precipitation zone70
Figure 38 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day21) on
MRS agar precipitation zone71
Figure 39 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage
day21) on MRS agar precipitation zone71
Figure 40 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day28) on
MRS agar precipitation zone
Figure 41 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day28) on
MRS agar precipitation zone
Figure 42 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day28) on
MRS agar precipitation zone73

Figure 43 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage
day28) on MRS agar precipitation zone73
Figure 44 % Syneresis of fermented milks during storage75
Figure 45 Dependence of G ['] on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 1 day
Figure 46 Dependence of G' on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 7 days
Figure 47 Dependence of G' on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 14 days
Figure 48 Dependence of G' on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 21 days
Figure 49 Dependence of G ['] on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 28 days

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Probiotics are known as good microorganisms and have health benefits. The World Health Organization (WHO) defines probiotics as "live microorganisms which when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host". Most probiotics are lactic acid bacteria (LAB) that have been studied for a long time, and most of them are non-pathogenic.⁽¹⁾ The common sources of probiotics are fermented foods, yoghurt, cultured buttermilk, cheese and are also found in intestinal microbes. The greater part of probiotic microorganisms belongs to the genus *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* both are anaerobic bacteria, gram-positive, lactic acid–producing bacteria that constitute important intestinal microflora. Other microbes may also be used as probiotics, such as *Lactococcus, Leuconostoc, Enterococcus* and yeast *Saccharomyces boulardii.*⁽²⁾ Several species of lactobacilli have generally regarded as safe status (GRAS) and some can interact with intestinal epithelial cells.

Probiotics are often administered for treatment of intestinal disorders, such as diarrhea and its alleviation. ⁽³⁾ The main route of probiotic administration is mouth carriage to enter the gastrointestinal system, the most key target for probiotics action. The benefits of probiotics include modulation of immune function (immunomodulation), inhibition of pathogens (anti-pathogenic), reduction of the symptoms of allergies (anti-allergy), reduction of inflammation (inflammatory bowel disease; IBD), anti-cancer and reduction of lipid level in serum (hyperlipidemia). Good probiotics must have beneficial effect on the host, contain a large number of viable cells at the time of consumption, remain viable throughout the shelf-life of the product and stabilize the intestinal microflora.

LAB are gram-positive bacteria, which produces lactic acid, play an important role in food production and health maintenance. The general characteristics of LAB are lactic acid production, gram-positive, catalase negative, non-motile, non-respiring and non-spore forming cocci or rods.⁽⁴⁾ The general microorganisms recognized as LAB

group are Aerococcus, Carnobacterium, Enterococcus, Lactobacillus, Lactococcus, Leuconostoc, Oenococcus, Pediococcus, Streptococcus, Tetragenococcus, Vagococcus and Weissella, some other microbes have been proposed as and are used as probiotic strains include *L. acidophilus*, *L. casei*, *L. johnsonii L. fermentum*, *L. rhamnosus*, *L. plantarum*, *L. reuteri*, *L. salivarius*, *L. paracasei*, *L. delbrueckii* subsp. bulgaricus, Saccharomyces boulardii, Streptococcus thermophilus, Bifidobacterium lactis, *B. longum*, and *B. breve*.⁽⁵⁾

The human body have tremendous number of living microorganisms. The number of microbial cells inhabiting body is estimated to surpass the human body cells by 10-fold and estimated at 350 trillion microbial cells. ⁽⁶⁾ All microorganisms in the body are called microbiota. These microorganisms may be bacteria, viruses, fungi or other types of microorganisms. Various species of microorganisms are located in different parts of the body such as oral cavity, throat, esophagus, stomach, colon, urogenital tract, respiratory tract, and skin. ⁽⁷⁾ Microbiota are an important key for maintaining homeostasis where it confers many usefulness for the host such as development of the immune system, pathogen elimination, vitamin production, and absorption of nutrients. ⁽⁸⁾

The intestine microbiota constitutes the most plentiful microbial domain within the human body. The intestine is the area where microbes live most, with up to 10¹⁴ cells. ⁽⁶⁾ Gut microbiota plays a major role of human health. It helps in digestion and absorption of food, metabolic system and the excretory system. ^(9, 10) Some types of gut microbiota help create a substance necessary to thrive in the body, such as vitamins B and K, stimulate and strengthen the body's immune system and protects the body from invasion by the outside pathogenic microbes. The gut is largest immune organ. The gut immune system is key to maintaining a healthy gut as well as overall health. Epithelial cells in the intestine contribute to maintain a symbiotic relationship between the gut microbiota and host by establish mucosal barriers, secreting immunological mediators, and delivering bacterial antigens. Various studies have shown a wide variety of good bacteria (probiotic) in the gut that can enhance immune system function, help combat

obesity, and provide numerous other benefits. However, when one of these bacterial colonies is out of balance, it can lead to dysbiosis.

There are many studies show that dysbiosis of the gut microbiota is associated with the pathogenesis of such chronic gastrointestinal diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBS) and irritable Bowel Syndrome (IBD), and systemic metabolic diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes and obesity.^(11, 12) Consumption of high-sugar, high-fat foods and chronic stress is a major cause of imbalance gut microbiota. Probiotic and Prebiotic are diet processes or strategies used as food to promote host health by improving the composition of the intestine microbiota. Prebiotic is a nutrient that stimulates the proliferation and or function of "beneficial" bacteria in the colon including probiotic microorganisms. Thus, conferring benefits upon host health. The consumption of probiotics, prebiotics and nutrients, beneficial molecules or microbes are designed to be beneficial to the body by increasing the number of beneficial microorganisms or products they have with the intestines. The balance of gut microbiota can be achieved by eating nutritious foods and eating a prebiotic or probiotic. Therapeutically, probiotics have been used to improve gut microbiota for centuries.^(13, 14)

Cholesterol is a type of fat in wax and water insoluble form and sorts to be substance sterol that important for the body. Cholesterol is a part of the cell wall structure that regulates the flow of fluid between cells and it is complement of the myelin sheath. In addition, cholesterol is a precursor to synthesis the bile acids, vitamin D and important hormones in the body, including hormones of the adrenal glands, cortisol, corticosteroids, estrogen and testosterone. It is also a precursor of important substances in bile (bile salt), which helps digestion and absorption of fat.⁽¹⁵⁾ Seventy percent of cholesterol in the body are made by liver and anot her 30% comes from the diet. Cholesterol is mostly found in egg yolks, animal innards and seafood.⁽¹⁶⁾

Hypercholesterolaemia is a condition, of which the body has high level of lipids in blood with more than 200 mg/dl and the level of triglyceride is higher than 150 mg/dl. ⁽¹⁷⁾ This condition increases fatty deposits in arteries and the risk of blockages. The main cause of severe hyperlipidemia due to lifestyle and unhealthy eating habits such as those high in salt and fat, especially saturated fat, and low in complex carbohydrates. ⁽¹⁸⁾ Consumption of high cholesterol diet causes atherosclerosis, artery wall thickness or more narrow arteries which results in blood to the heart is insufficient. It is a common cause of heart attack and stroke. ⁽¹⁹⁾ Therefore, various strategies have been employed to relieve hypercholesterolemia such as exercise, various dietary approaches including the use of probiotics in the development of functional foods.

Bile is a fluid produced by the liver from cholesterol as a precursor in the synthesis. In humans, bile production is about 400-700 cc.⁽²⁰⁾ The gall bladder stores and concentrates bile during the fasting state. Bile contains bile acids, which important for digestion and absorption of fats and fat-soluble vitamins in the small intestine. Bile acids are derivatives of cholesterol synthesized in the hepatocyte. Cholesterol, ingested as part of the diet or derived from hepatic synthesis is converted into the bile acids cholic and chenodeoxycholic acids, which are then conjugated to an amino acid (glycine or taurine) to submit the conjugated form that is actively secreted into bile canaliculi. When eating food, bile is released from the gall bladder to duodenum thus entering the enterohepatic circulation. Reabsorbed bile acids enter the portal bloodstream and are taken up by hepatocytes, reconjugated, and re-secreted into bile. Approximately 5% of the total bile acid are lost in the feces.

In intestinal, conjugated bile salts is extensively modified by the indigenous intestinal bacteria. One important transformation is deconjugation.⁽²¹⁾ Deconjugation is catalyzed by bacterial enzymes known as bile salt hydrolases (BSH), which transform conjugated bile salts into deconjugated bile salts by hydrolysis of the amide bond in conjugated bile salts, resulting in the release of free amino acids. The insoluble substance in conjugated bile salt is precipitated and excreted from the body with feces causing de novo bile salt synthesis from cholesterol. This mechanism is used to maintain bile acid homeostasis, which will result decrease cholesterol in blood.^(22, 23)

BSH is an enzyme produced by diverse gut bacterial species in gastrointestinal tract. BSH catalyzes the glycine- or taurine- linked bile salt deconjugation reaction.^{(24,}

²⁵⁾Commensal bacteria frequently produce BSH enzymes whose roles in their survival and colonization. ⁽²⁶⁾ The main beneficial effect of bile salt deconjugation includes lowering of serum cholesterol levels, as the less amphiphilic molecules (unconjugated bile acids), which compromises fat digestibly and recycling of deconjugated bile acids forces an increase in the de novo synthesis of bile acids utilizing cholesterol.⁽²⁷⁾

Microorganism that have been found to produce BSH activity include: *Bifidobacterium, Enterococcus, Lactobacillus, Enterococcus, Clostridium,* and *Bacteroides* spp. *Lactobacilli* and *Bifidobacteria* are most commonly used as probiotic, while *Bacteroides, Clostridium,* and *Enterococcus* spp. are also commensal bacteria inhabitants of the gastrointestinal tract. ⁽²⁸⁾ Many LAB probiotics are found to produce BSH which beneficial effect to serum cholesterol lowering thus, BSH activity is also considered criterion for the selection of probiotics. ⁽²⁹⁾

The concept of functional foods was first used in japan in the 1980s ⁽³⁰⁾ and it is connected with the notion that foods not only provide basic nutrition which is necessary for living but can also prevent diseases, good health and longevity. ⁽³¹⁾ Probiotic food has a large commercial interest and its market share has increased.⁽³²⁾ The presence of probiotics in health food products has been claimed for health benefits. The combination of probiotics in food products enhances their market value. Consumers commonly recognize them as a food with proven health benefits or functional food. Probiotic products are dietary supplements that contain beneficial microorganisms and affect the health of consumers. Microorganism frequently used in probiotic products are similar to those found in the intestinal tract, including *Lactobacillus*, *Bifidobacterium* and *Streptococcus*. ⁽³³⁾ The minimum probiotic requirement for a given product is 10⁶ CFU / g of foods. ⁽³⁴⁾

Consumption of probiotic products improves intestinal microflora. Most of the probiotic-products are in the form of dairy foods (Yogurt, cottage cheese, and fermented milk). Dairy products were the first commercialized products in group of probiotics food products that are still consumed in larger quantities than other probiotic foods.⁽³⁵⁾ The usefulness on human health of probiotic dairy products includes: reducing lactose

intolerance, cholesterol lowering, prevention of diarrhea and constipation, increase in the effectiveness against *Helicobacter pylori* infection, enhancement of mineral absorption. Presently, probiotics are added to commercialized food products, such fermented vegetable juices, cereals, chocolate, ice cream, and cookies.

The aim of this study is to characterize lactic acid bacteria isolated from Thai fermented foods. The selected LAB were screened for potential with bile salt hydrolase activity, characterized by 16S rRNA gene sequencing and evaluated for the probiotic properties. In addition, the technological potential of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Thai fermented foods in view of their application in fermented milk products were determined.

Hypothesis

Certain strains of probiotic lactic acid bacteria are able to producing bile salt hydrolase and can be applied in fermented milk products.

Objective

1. To isolate and select the probiotic lactic acid bacteria isolated from Thai fermented food.

2. To screen probiotic lactic acid bacteria that have bile salt hydrolase activity.

3. To characterize bacterial species by 16S rRNA gene sequencing.

4. To evaluate the probiotic properties.

5. To determine the technological potential of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Thai fermented foods in view of their application in milk fermented product

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

1. Definition of probiotics

Probiotics are non-pathogenic microorganisms that are beneficial to the body. Several studies have reported that probiotic bacteria play important roles in the modulation of gastrointestinal and immunological functions. The term "probiotic" was first used by Lilley and Stillwell in 1965.⁽³⁶⁾ The concept of beneficial microbes prior to probiotic originated with the concept of the Russian scientist Elie Metchnikoff, who won the Nobel Prize in the early 20th century, in 1908. He noted that the Bulgarian people had long healthy life resulted from their consumption of fermented milk products. He believed that consumption of the fermented milk indubitably influenced the gut microflora, decreasing the toxic microbial activity of the pathogenic bacterial population. ⁽³⁷⁾ However, the definition of probiotic most commonly accepted is the one developed by the WHO/FAO working group in 2002: "Live microorganisms which when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host."⁽³⁸⁾

1.1 Common probiotics

The most essential probiotic properties must be able to survive and colonize in the human gastrointestinal tract, and thus must be able to tolerate pH and concentration of bile acids. In addition, should be recognized by the immune system. It should not be toxic, allergic and non-pathogenic. The probiotics strains for human use should have 'generally regarded as safe (GRAS)' status, which focus on strain identification, functional properties, safety assessment, and beneficial human health effects.^(39, 40) A basic schematic diagram on the properties of an ideal probiotic can be found in Fig. 1

1.2 Sources of probiotics

The common sources of probiotics are fermented foods such as Japanese miso, tempeh, yogurt, cultured buttermilk, and cheese. However, probiotic strains are also found in non- fermented substrates which includes legumes, cabbage, maize, pearl millet, cereals, and so forth.⁽⁴¹⁾ The other sources of probiotics include breast milk, the human gastrointestinal tract and the guts of several animal.⁽⁴²⁾



Figure 1 Basic schematic detailing the properties of an ideal probiotic bacteria ⁽²⁾

1.3 Strain of probiotics

Most probiotic strains are lactic acid bacteria. *Lactobacillus* and Bifidobacterium both are anaerobic bacteria, gram-positive, lactic acid–producing bacteria that constitute important of intestinal microflora. Other microbes may also be used as probiotics, such as *Lactococcus, Leuconostoc, Enterococcus* and yeast *Saccharomyces boulardii.*⁽⁴³⁾ Furthermore, the selection of probiotic use in humans, should consider the ability to provide health benefits; promote or maintain the state of well-being; and safety assessment, long-term effects and also possible chronic effects.

1.3.1 Lactobacillus

Lactobacillus is the main genus within the group of lactic acid bacteria. They are gram positive rod, facultative anaerobic or microaerophilic, non-spore-forming bacteria of the family *Lactobacillaceae*. *Lactobacillus* are commensal inhabitants of gastrointestinal tracts, female urogenital tract and human mouth. *Lactobacillus* are generally used in the manufacture of fermented dairy and interest in their applications is reinforced by documented probiotic and functional properties. Some of these microorganisms have the special aptitude to produce substance that possess functional as well as therapeutic properties.⁽⁴⁴⁾ It was shown that *L. acidophilus* LA1 having antimicrobial effect against Helicobacter pylori, both in vitro and in humans.^(45, 46)

1.3.2 Bifidobacterium

The genus *Bifidobacterium* are branched anaerobic bacteria, nonmotile, non-spore forming, and non-gas producing. They are lactic acid bacteria that naturally inhabit our intestinal and urogenital tracts. Given their sensitivity to oxygen *Bifidobacterium*, in the gastrointestinal tract, are principally located in the colon.⁽⁴⁷⁾

Lactobacillus	Bifidobacterium	Other lactic acid	Non-lactic acid bacteria	
species	species	bacteria		
L. acidophilus	B. bifidum	Enterococcus faecalis	Escherichia coli Nissle	
L. casei	B. breve	Enterococcus faecium	Propionibacterium	
L. crispatus	B. lactis	Lactococcus lactis	freudenreichii	
L. gasseri	B. longum	Leuconostoc	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	
L. fermentum	B. infantis	mesenteroides	Saccharomyces boulardii	
L. johnsonii	B. adolescentis	Pediococcus acidilactici	Gueenaronnyees boalarai	
L. paracasei	B. animalis	Streptococcus		
L. plantarum		thermophilus		

Table 1 Microorganisms considered as probiotics (48, 49)

2. Probiotic properties

The helpful effects of probiotics on human health and nutrition are extremely recognized by health professionals. Various studies have reported the good effects of specific strains of probiotics on the reduction of risks and management of a range of diseases and conditions.⁽⁴⁶⁾

2.1 Anti-pathogenic properties

Antimicrobial activity is an important mechanism for probiotic to competitively exclude or inhibit invading microorganisms. Some species of probiotic bacteria are capable of producing antimicrobial compounds, such as short-chain fatty acids, bacteriocins and hydrogen peroxide. Probiotics are major lactic acid producers. Lactic acid reduces pH in the area and inhibits the growth of bacteria sensitive to acidic conditions.^(50, 51)

2.2 Adhesion properties

Bacterial adherence to the host gastrointestinal tract has long been considering important selection criteria for probiotic microorganisms. Probiotic adhesion to intestinal mucus and epithelial cells is one of the most important characteristics for host colonization. Adhesion to the intestinal mucosa leads to direct interactions that may affect the competitive exclusions of pathogens and host immune response modulation.⁽⁵²⁾

2.3 Tolerance to gastric acid and bile tolerance

The resistance to acid and bile in the human gastrointestinal tract constitutes key selection criteria for probiotic bacteria. Probiotic bacteria must be able to tolerate in acidic gastric environment and high concentrations of both conjugated and deconjugated bile acids, to survive and colonize in the gut.⁽⁴⁹⁾ Many *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies show that probiotics organisms can survive the gastric transit, where the cells were exposed to acidic pH values < 2.0, though the exposure time was relatively short (1 to 2 h).⁽⁵³⁾

2.4 Competitive exclusion of pathogenic microorganism properties

Probiotics are able to exclude or eliminate the growth of pathogens by creation of a hostile microenvironment like the decreasing of the pH of the intestine lower than what is essential for survival of pathogenic microorganisms such as *E. coli*, and *Salmonella* by producing organic acids like lactic acid.⁽⁵⁴⁾

3. Health benefits of probiotic bacteria

Nowadays, it is widely accepted that the indigenous microbial communities are host specific, location specific, most complex in composition and has beneficial characteristic to the host. Some of the major health features of probiotics are discussed in the following sections. The major health benefits of probiotics and their proposed mechanisms are shown in Table 2.

Table 2 Health benefits of probiotic bacteria to the host, and speculated mechanisms involved ⁽⁵⁵⁾

Health benefits	Proposed mechanisms involved
Identification of digestion Small bowel	Bacterial lactase acts on lactose in the
bacterial overgrowth	small intestine Lactobacilli influence the
	activity of overgrowth flora, decreasing
	toxic metabolite production
	Antibacterial characteristics
Antihypertensive effect	Antihypertensive effect
	Bacterial peptidase action on milk
	protein results in antihypertensive
	tripeptides
	Cell wall components act as ACE inhibitors

Table 2 (continued)

Health benefits	Proposed mechanisms involved
Infection caused by	Competitive colonization Inhibition of
Helicobacter pylori	growth and adhesion to mucosal cells,
	decrease in gastric Helicobacter pylori
	concentration
Immune system modulation	Strengthening of nonspecific and antigen-
	specific defense against
	infection and tumors
	Adjuvant effect in antigen-specific
	immune responses
	Regulating/influencing Th1/Th2 cells,
	production of anti-inflammatory
	Cytokines Decreased release of toxic N-
	metabolites
Urogenital Infections	Adhesion to urinary and vaginal tract cells
	competitive Exclusion Inhibitor production
	(bacterocin, H_2O_2 , biosurfactants)

3.1 Acute infectious diarrhea

Acute infectious diarrhea is still a major health problem worldwide and a cause of death for children in underdeveloped countries. The cause of acute infectious diarrhea is caused either due to bacteria or viruses. The effects of probiotics in reducing the risk and duration of diarrhea include an elevation of the body's immune system and producing antibodies against causative microbes, such as rotavirus and *E. coli*.⁽⁵⁶⁾

3.2 Helicobacter pylori infection

Helicobacter pylori is a gram-negative, flagellated organism that causes infection in the stomach. *H. pylori* can survive in gastric mucosa and it is linked to gastric carcinoma, gastric ulcers, and many other gastric problems. ⁽²²⁾⁽²²⁾ Several studies have evaluated the effects of probiotics on *H. pylori*. A recent study showed that *L. johnsonii* La1, *L. salivarius* and *L. acidophilus*, inhibit the attachment of *H. pylori* to intestinal HT-29 cells. ⁽⁵⁷⁾

3.3 Modulation of immune system

Probiotics should be able to stimulate as well as regulate a several aspects of the natural and the acquired immune response. Consumption of specific strains of probiotics has also been shown to enhance the immune response to natural infections and systematic or oral immunization. Probiotics confer immunological protection against enteropathogens by stimulating the cytokine production and macrophages; Enhancing the specific antibody response to the pathogens.^(58, 59)

4. Lactic acid bacteria

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) constitute of a group of gram-positive bacteria, nonspore forming cocci or rods, low G + C%, which produce lactic acid widely used in the food fermentation industry and are generally recognized as safe (GRAS) microorganisms. This group of bacteria has advanced acid tolerance and survive at < pH 5 giving them a competitive advantage over another microorganism.

LAB belong to the order *Lactobacillales*. These genera are: *Lactobacillus*, *Leuconostoc*, *Carnobacterium*, *Enterococcus*, *Oenococcus*, *Tetragenococcus*, *Vagococcus*, *Pediococcus*, *Lactococcus*, *Streptococcus*, *Carnobacterium*, *Enterococcus*, *Oenococcus*, *Tetragenococcus* and *Vagococcus*. LAB in Actinobacteria phylum only include species of *Bifidobacterium* genus. Currently, the most dominant LAB application is used as starter cultures for fermented food production, where they give in the flavor, texture and nutritional value of fermented foods.^(60, 61)

LAB with probiotic properties are generally intestinal flora with beneficial functions in the ecology of the human digestive tract. ⁽⁶²⁾ Various reports have shown that

traditional fermented foods are rich in LAB with probiotic characteristics.^(63, 64) Health benefits of probiotic LAB are summarized in Table 3.

Lactic Acid Bacteria	Effects on human health	
Lactobacillus acidophilus	Secretes lactic acid which reduces the	
	pH of the gut and inhibits the	
	development of pathogens (Salmonella	
	spp, <i>E.coli</i>).	
Lactobacillus johnsonii	Effective in inhibition of <i>H. pylori</i> and	
	against inflammation	
Lactobacillus plantarum	Produces short-chain fatty acids that	
	block the generation of carcinogenic	
	agents by reducing enzyme activities	
Lactobacillus fermentum	Effective in restoration of a normal	
	microflora. Effective against bacterial	
	vaginosis flora	
Lactobacillus reuteri	Reduces the duration of diarrhea	
Enterococcus faecium	Can reduce blood cholesterol leading	
	to decreased blood pressure	

Table 3 Lactic acid bacteria derived probiotics and human health ⁽⁶⁴⁾

5. Gut microbiota

The human microbiome is composed of numerous microorganisms: bacteria, archaea, viruses and fungi that reside in and on our bodies. They have enormous potential to impact body physiology, both in health and in disease. The intestine is the organ with the most living microorganisms, consisting of 4×10^{14} bacteria distributed across the entire gut.⁽⁶⁵⁾ The gut of humans contains trillions of bacterial cells from 500 to

1000 different bacterial species.^(66, 67) Although bacteria with < 50 phyla described to date, the healthy gut microbiota is predominated only of them: phyla *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes*, whereas *Proteobacteria*, *Verrucomicrobia*, *Actinobacteria*, *Fusobacteria*, and *Cyanobacteria* are present in minor proportions (Fig. 2, A and B).^(68, 69) The number of bacterial cells immediate in gut shows a continuum that goes from 10¹ to 10³ bacteria per gram of contents in the stomach and duodenum, progressing to 10⁴ to 10⁷ bacteria per gram in the jejunum and ileum and culminating in 10¹¹ to 10¹² cells per gram in the colon (Fig. 2A).⁽⁷⁰⁾



Figure 2 Spatial and temporal aspects of intestinal microbiota composition. A: variations in microbial numbers and composition across the length of the gastrointestinal tract. B: longitudinal variations in microbial composition in the intestine. C: temporal aspects of microbiota establishment and maintenance and factors influencing microbial composition ⁽⁷⁰⁾ Gut microbiota has several important functions such as performing a barrier effect, protection against invasive bacterial strains and modulate immune system. Behavior dietary and lifestyle associated chronic diseases like hypertension, type 2 diabetes and Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) are very concern worldwide.⁽⁷¹⁾

Short chain fatty acids (SCFA) are the primary end-products of fermentation of non-digestible carbohydrates (NDC) by gut microbiota. The synthesis of SCFA such as butyrate, propionate and acetate, which are rich sources of energy for the host. The SCFAs also have several effects on metabolism. For example, propionate and acetate are important substrates for gluconeogenesis and lipogenesis. Propionate improves insulin sensitivity. ⁽⁷²⁾ Therefore, the production of SCFAs by intestinal microbiota is an important source of energy from food as well as important intermediates in gut motility and fat storage control.⁽⁷³⁾

Interaction between microorganisms and host are involved in controlling the microbiota in the stomach. Gut epithelial tissue is creating effective physical barriers to prevent the access of environmental pathogens and antigens into the host's internal environment, release of chemicals and cytokines that receive inflammatory and immune cells, involved in the control of these potentially harmful agents.

The causes of obesity are excess energy intake and sedentary lifestyle, which are an important influence of imbalance gut microbiota and changing microbial populations associated with obesity.⁽⁷⁴⁾ In humans and animals that are obese, the microbial population changes with increasing in the *Firmicutes* and reducing in the *Bacteroidetes*, cause adiposity through greater energy harvest.^(75, 76) However, other data show that the change in microbial population are caused by eating foods promoting excessive weight gain. Other lifestyle factors, stress, has a critical on intestine activity which can alter gut microbiota profiles, including of the lower numbers of potentially beneficial *Lactobacillus*.

Probiotic and Prebiotic are diet processes / strategies used as food to promote host health by improving the composition of the intestine microbiota. Prebiotic is a nutrient that stimulates the proliferation and / or function of "beneficial" bacteria in the colon including probiotics, microorganisms. Thus, conferring benefits upon host health. The consumption of probiotics, prebiotics and nutrients, beneficial molecules or microbes are designed to be beneficial to the body by increasing the number of beneficial microorganisms or products they have with the intestines.⁽⁷⁷⁾ Some probiotics are known to reduce lactose intolerance. The stimulation of growth of *Bifidobacterium* in the colonic microbiota type has been shown to be inulin-type fructans (prebiotic) in both *in vitro* and in vivo. In addition, eating with probiotics and prebiotics also reduces the risk of disease and promotes health host.

6. Cholesterol

Cholesterol is compound of the sterol type found in most body tissues, including the blood and the nerves. Cholesterol and its derivatives are important constituents of cell membranes and precursors of other steroid compounds. The cholesterol in blood comes from two sources: the foods and liver.⁽⁷⁸⁾ But too much cholesterol in blood causes the risk of coronary heart disease.⁽⁷⁹⁾

6.1 Lipoproteins

Lipoproteins are composed of an outer water-soluble surface and an inner water-insoluble core. The outer portion comprises phospholipid, protein and cholesterol, with triglyceride and cholesterol ester (a cholesterol molecule linked to a fatty acid) forming the core. The main role of lipoprotein particles is to transport fats such as triglycerides and cholesterol in the blood between the organs of the body.⁽⁸⁰⁾ Lipoproteins are divided into four main groups; each group has different cholesterol and triglycerides. They are classified according to the density, the lower the density of lipoprotein, the greater the amount of fat contained within. Fig. 3 There are five major types of lipoproteins; chylomicrons, very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), intermediate-density lipoprotein (IDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and high-density lipoprotein (HDL).⁽⁸¹⁾

	Chylomicron	LDL	HDL
Diagram			
 Triacylglycerol Cholesterol Phospholipid Apoprotein 			
% Lipid			
Triglyceride	98	15	10
Cholesterol	~1	60	30
Phospholipid	~1	25	60
% Protein			
	2	20	50

Figure 3 Major Types of Lipoproteins

Source: https://ib.bioninja.com.au/standard-level/topic-2-molecular-biology/23-carbohydrates-and-lipids/lipoproteins.html

6.1.1 Chylomicrons

Chylomicrons, the least dense of the lipoproteins are formed in the intestinal cell walls from dietary fat. Their main task is to carry triglycerides from the intestine to the tissues where they are needed as a source of energy. The blood circulation triglycerides is excreted from the chylomicrons via the action of lipoprotein lipase (LPL), an enzyme present in the capillaries of various tissues. If there are chylomicrons in large quantities, such as after eating fatty foods, chylomicrons cause the plasma to appear milky.^(82, 83)

6.1.2 Very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL)

VLDLs are synthesized in the liver. They work like chylomicrons to distribute triglycerides to target sites such as fat tissue and skeletal muscle. They work like chylomicrons to distribute triglycerides to target sites such as fat tissue and skeletal muscle as it is used in storage and energy. Triglycerides are removed from the circulation just like chylomicrons. VLDL levels in high plasma are found in the group

hypertriglyceridemia, diabetes, underactive thyroid, and in people with high alcohol content.⁽⁸⁴⁾

6.1.3 Low density lipoproteins (LDL)

LDLs are cholesterol exuberant particles. approximately 7 0 % of cholesterol in plasma occurs in this form. LDLs are highly involved in the transport of cholesterol produced in the liver to tissues. Cholesterol Uptake in the cell occurs when the lipoprotein binds to the LDL receptor on surface. LDL cells are introduced into the cells and broken down into cholesterol and free amino acids.⁽⁸⁵⁾

6.1.4 High density lipoproteins (HDL)

HDL are consisting of 5 0 % protein, with phospholipid and cholesterol. HDL is commonly familiar as the 'good' cholesterol. The function of HDL is to transport excess cholesterol from the tissues (Including blood vessels) to the liver to eliminate. Many studies show that low HDL cholesterol levels are high risk for coronary heart disease.⁽⁸⁶⁾

6.2 High cholesterol

Hypercholesterolemia is the term to indicate a high cholesterol serum level. When body have high cholesterol may develop fat deposits in blood vessels causing heart disease and increases in the risk of a heart attack. The World Health Organization (WHO) reprised that cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death by 46% worldwide.⁽⁸⁷⁾

7. Bile

Bile is a fluid, essential for intestinal digestion and absorption of lipids. Bile is synthesized by the liver. In addition, bile also has important properties for eliminating environmental toxins, carcinogens, drugs and their carcinogens.

7.1 Bile salt synthesis

Bile is produced by the liver from cholesterol, a precursor in the synthesis. Bile then is excreted into the gallbladder where it is concentrated or is delivered directly to the small intestine. Cholesterol, ingested as part of the diet or derived from hepatic
synthesis is converted into the bile acids cholic and chenodeoxycholic acids, which are then conjugated to an amino acid (glycine or taurine) to yield the conjugated form that is actively secreted into canaliculi.⁽⁸⁸⁾ The most universal bile acids in human bile are chenodeoxycholic acid (45%) and cholic acid (31%). These are quoted to as the primary bile acids. Before the primary bile acids are secreted into the canalicular lumen they are conjugated via an amide bond at the terminal carboxyl group with either of the amino acids glycine or taurine. These conjugation reactions produce glycoconjugates and tauroconjugates, respectively. This conjugation process enhanced the amphipathic nature of the bile acids making them more easily secretable as well as less cytotoxic. The conjugated bile acids are the major solutes in human bile. (Fig. 4)



Figure 4 Structure of the conjugated cholic acids (89)

7.2 Roles of bile acids

Bile contains bile acids, which important for digestion and absorption of fats and fat-soluble vitamins in the small intestine. In addition, bile also has important properties including antimicrobial activity, primarily through the dissolution of bacterial membranes.⁽²¹⁾

8. Probiotic bacteria as cholesterol-lowering

High levels of lipids in blood are one major risk factors for cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and metabolic syndrome ⁽⁹⁰⁾ Drug treatment Hypocholesterolemia disadvantage is expensive and can have side effects. Risk factors the development of cardiovascular diseases are genetic factors and a sedentary lifestyle, environmental factors, including an increased intake of high-fat diets.⁽⁹¹⁾ Recently, there has been increased attention for the function of the gut microbiota in the development of metabolic syndrome and its associated complications. Evidence studies suggests that probiotics can reduce serum cholesterol levels. But it only happens when they survive gastrointestinal conditions. This effect of lowering cholesterol levels initiates at the intestinal, makes it interested probiotics properties important in gut.⁽⁹²⁾

8.1 Bile salt hydrolase-active probiotic bacteria

The potentiality of probiotic strains to hydrolyze bile salts has often been included among the criteria for probiotic strain selection and characterized by bile salt hydrolases (BSHs). *Clostridium*, and *Bacteroides* spp. *Lactobacilli* and *bifidobacteria* are most commonly used as probiotic, while *Bacteroides*, *Clostridium*, and *Enterococcus* spp. are also commensal bacteria inhabitants of the gastrointestinal tract. Overall, the data strongly support the hypothesis that microbial BSHs function in the detoxification of bile salts and in doing so increase the intestinal survival and persistence of producing strains.⁽⁹³⁾ Most probiotic strains with BSH activity are food grade bacteria that belong to the genera of *Lactobacillus*, *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactococcus*. The BSH gene has been found in most intestine microflora. However, strain identification together with BSH activity assessments, viability, resistance towards acid and bile, adherence to the intestinal epithelium, colonization of gut and hypocholesterolemia property can be some of the criteria for identifying the probiotics for industrial production of human food.⁽⁹⁴⁾

8.2 Characteristics of bile salt hydrolase enzyme

BSH is a pharmacologically important enzyme. They belong to the Cholylglycine Hydrolase (CGH) family of the Ntn-hydrolase superfamily.⁽⁹⁵⁾ BSH is widely distributed in microorganism of mammal's digestive tract. BSH enzyme acts on the amide bond and catalyses the de-conjugation of tauro- or glyco-conjugated bile acids. ⁽²³⁾ (FIG. 5.)



Figure 5 (A) Chemical structure of bile acids.

Primary bile acids are synthesized in the liver from cholesterol and are conjugated with either glycine or taurine prior to secretion. The carboxyl group of the bile acid and the amino group of the amino acid are linked by an amide bond. (B) Reaction catalyzed by BSH enzymes. BSHs cleave the peptide linkage of bile acids, which results in removal of the amino acid group from the steroid core. The resulting unconjugated bile acids precipitate at low ph. (C) Detection of BSH activity.⁽⁹⁶⁾

8.3 Impact of BSH activity on the host

8.3.1 Cholesterol lowering

Hypercholesterolemia or high blood cholesterol levels are a major risk factor for developing coronary heart disease, and even with such medication's agents

are available to treat this condition (such as statins or sequestrates), they are expensive or may have adverse side effects. ⁽⁹⁷⁾ Oral administration of probiotics has been shown to significantly recede cholesterol levels 22 to 33% or prevent high cholesterol levels in mice fed high-fat-diet.⁽²⁷⁾ Deconjugated bile salts are few efficiently reabsorbed than conjugated bile salts, which results in the excretion of free bile acids in feces. Also, free bile salts are less capable in the solubilization and absorption of lipids in the gut. Therefore, deconjugation of bile salts causing de novo bile salt synthesis from cholesterol is used to maintain bile acid homeostasis, which will result decrease cholesterol in blood.

	Probiotic organism	Experimental	Major findings
		system	
In vivo	Yogurt (unknown)	Human	Reduced total cholesterol
			and LDL
In vivo	Fortified buffalo	Rat	Reduced total cholesterol,
	milk-yogurts with		LDL-cholesterol
	B. longum		and triglyceride
In vivo	L. plantarum	Mice	Reduced blood cholesterol
			Decreased triglycerides
In vivo	L. plantarum	Rat	Decreased total cholesterol
			and LDL-cholesterol
In vivo	L. plantarum	Culture	Cholesterol assimilation
		media	
In vivo	L. fermentum	Culture	BSH activity
		media	

Table 4 summarizes findings for cholesterol lowering effects of probiotics (98, 99)

Table 4 (Continued)

	Probiotic organism	Experimental	Major findings
		system	
In vivo	L. plantarum	Rat	Decreased LDL, VLDL, and
			increased HDL with decrease in
			deposition of cholesterol and
			triglyceride in liver and aorta
In vivo	L. acidophilus	Culture media	Assimilation of cholesterol
			Attachment of cholesterol onto
			cell surface
	· · ·		C
In vivo	L. acidophilus		Deconjugation of bile salt
			Bile salt hydrolase activity
In vivo	L. casei		Deconjugation of bile salt
			Bile salt hydrolase activity
In vivo	L. bulgaricus	un?.	Attachment of cholesterol onto
			cell surface
In vivo	L. reuteri	Culture media	Cholesterol assimilation
	L. fermentum		
	L. acidophilus		
	L. plantarum		

9. Probiotics in food products

Probiotics consumption through food products is one of the most popular approach at today. Most probiotic foods products are categorized as functional foods and are an important part of the diet. Demand for probiotic functional foods is growing rapidly due to increased consumer awareness. It has been estimated that probiotic foods comprise between 60% and 70% of the total functional food market.^(100, 101) Significant success has been achieved during the past few decades in development of dairy products containing probiotic bacteria, such as fermented milks, ice cream, various types of cheese, baby food, milk powder, frozen dairy desserts, whey-based beverages, sour cream, butter milk, normal and flavored liquid milk.⁽¹⁰²⁾

9.1 Probiotic dairy products

In recent years, there has been a trend for more consumers to pay attention to health and seek foods that have additional functional properties for their nutrition. Probiotic dairy products are considered to have functional properties because the probiotic bacteria added to health benefit on the host such as modification of the immune system, reduction in cholesterol, alleviation from lactose intolerance and treatment and relief of diarrhea.^(103, 104) In addition, airy probiotics can be as a food consumed by both children and adults. For example, four-week consumption of *Lactobacillus paracasei* subsp. paracasei LC01 in healthy adults resulted in reduced faecal *Escherichia coli* and ammonia, and increases in *Lactobacillus, Bifidobacterium*, and *Roseburia* intestinalis and acetic and butyric acid.⁽¹⁰⁵⁾

9.2 Probiotic fermented milk (yoghurt)

Yogurt is a fermented milk product that is fermented by adding a specific lactic acid culture to the milk. The cultures probiotics used to make yogurt are *Lactobacillus bulgaricus*, *Streptococcus thermophilus* and *Lactobacillus casei*. ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾ Yoghurt with probiotic properties help to maintain the balance of bacteria needed to boost the immune system and promote a healthy digestive tract. The international standard requires any cultured products sold with health claims to contain at least 10⁷ CFU / g of viable probiotics at the time of consumption.⁽¹⁰⁷⁾

9.3 Beneficial health effects of probiotic products

Probiotics give a number of health benefits generally through maintenance of normal intestinal microflora, protection against gastrointestinal pathogens, reduction of serum cholesterol level and blood pressure, improved utilization of nutrients and improved nutritional value of food ⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ (Fig. 6)

9.3.1 Cardiovascular diseases

There is preliminary evidence that use of probiotic *lactobacilli* and metabolic by products potentially confer benefits to the heart, including prevention and therapy of various ischemic heart syndromes and lowering serum cholesterol by BSH-active properties.⁽¹⁰⁹⁾

While the Consultation believes these findings to be important, more research and particularly human studies are required before it can be ascertained that probiotics confer health benefits to the cardiovascular system.

9.3.2 Lactose intolerance

Lactose intolerance causes abdominal discomfort affecting about 70% of the world's population. Probiotic microorganism *L. acidophilus* bacteria have been clinically shown to relieve lactose intolerance.⁽¹¹⁰⁾

9.3.3 Supports healthy digestion

Healthy bacteria that are added to fermented milk help to improve the microflora in the gut, which is responsible for digestion and a healthy digestive tract. These active cultures may help with certain gastrointestinal conditions, including colon cancer, IBS, constipation, diarrhea and lactose intolerance.^(79, 111)

9.3.4 Hypocholesterolemia properties

There is preliminary evidence that the live probiotics in yogurt, including *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, decrease cholesterol levels, with just one 200-milliliter (seven ounces) serving per day. In a controlled clinical study, researchers witnessed a 2.4 percent reduction in serum cholesterol. They believe that regular probiotic yogurt consumption has the potential to reduce the risk of coronary heart disease by 6 to 10 percent. ⁽¹¹²⁾



Figure 6 Probiotics consumption and health benefits. (107)

9.4 Commercially used microorganisms for probiotic foods

Probiotics used in commercial foods are mostly genera *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* (Tables 4). The primary reason being both these genera have a long history of safe use and are considered as GRAS. *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* species are inhabitants in the human intestine (*Lactobacillus* in the small intestine and *Bifidobacterium* in the large intestine).⁽¹¹³⁾

Table 5 Some industries strains probiotic commercial used by various industries $^{\scriptscriptstyle (114)}$

Chr. Hansen	L. acidophilus LA1/LA5
	L. delbrueckii ssp. bulgaricus Lb12
	L. paracasei CRL431
	<i>B. animalis</i> ssp. lactis Bb12
Janisco	L. acidophilus NCFMs
	L. acidophilus La
	L. paracasei Lpc
SM Food Specialties	L. acidophilus LAFTIs L10
	<i>B. lactis</i> LAFTIs B94
	L. paracasei LAFTIs L26
Snow Brand Milk	L. acidophilus SBT-20621 Products Co.
	Ltd. B. longum SBT-29281
Riogaia	B long
	<i>um</i> BB536
oneterra Probi AB Danone	L. rhamnosus HN001 (DR20
	B. lactis HN019 (DR10)
nstitute Rosell	L. rhamnosus R0011
	L. acidophilus R0052
	'
′akult	<i>L. casei</i> Shirota
	<i>B. breve</i> strain Yaku
Iorinaga Milk Industry Co. Ltd. Lacteol	L. acidophilus LB
ssum AB	L. plantarum 29
anow Brand Milk Biogaia Foneterra Probi AB Danone Institute Rosell Yakult Morinaga Milk Industry Co. Ltd. Lacteol	 L. paracasei LAFTIS L26 L. acidophilus SBT-20621 Products Conducts International Conducts SBT-29281 B. long UM BB536 L. rhamnosus HN001 (DR20) B. lactis HN019 (DR10) L. rhamnosus R0011 L. acidophilus R0052 L. casei Shirota B. breve strain Yaku L. acidophilus LB L. plantarum 29

9.5 Doses of probiotics

The Food and Drug Administration (FDA or USFDA) has also suggested that the minimum probiotic count in a probiotic food should be at least 10^{6} CFU ml^{-1.(115)} Depending on the amount ingested and taking into account the effect of storage on probiotic viability, a daily intake of 10^{8} – 10^{9} probiotic microorganisms is essential to achieve probiotic action in the human organism. It is also been stated to probiotic products should be consumed regularly approximately 100 grams of probiotics per day to deliver 10^{9} live cells in the intestine.⁽¹¹⁶⁾

9.6 Development of probiotic foods

Over the past few decades more than 500 probiotic food products have been introduced in the global market. ⁽¹¹⁷⁾ Probiotic culture used in food product, therefore, should not adversely affect product quality or sensory properties. Most of the culture preparation is commercially available in highly concentrated form and the use of starter cell concentrates designated as either Direct Vat Set (DVS) or Direct Vat Inoculation (DVI), such as high concentration frozen or dry powdered form. Frozen cultures contain more than 10^{10} CFU g⁻¹, whereas freeze-dried cultures typically contain more than 10^{11} CFU g⁻¹. The packaging materials used and the storage conditions of the product storage are important to the quality of the probiotic product. ⁽⁴⁾ The technological properties associated with the incorporation of probiotic strains into food products are presented in Fig. 7



Figure 7 Qualitative aspects of probiotic food products.⁽¹¹⁸⁾

9.7 Survival of probiotics during processing and storage

The pharmaceutical efficacy of probiotic food products depends on the number of live and active cells per in grams or milliliters of the food product at the moment of consume. ⁽¹¹⁹⁾ Therefore, it is important to ensure high probiotic survival rates during production as well as shelf life to maintain consumer confidence in probiotics. There are many factors that influence the viability of probiotics microorganisms in food products during production, processing and storage include food parameters: pH, titratable acidity, molecular oxygen, and water activity, presence of salt, sugar and chemicals like hydrogen peroxide, bacteriocins, artificial flavoring and coloring agents. (Fig. 8) ⁽¹²⁰⁾

9.7.1 Fermentation conditions

The temperature used during fermentation is one of the major factors affecting the viability of probiotics and other qualitative parameters of probiotic fermented products. The optimal temperature for growth of probiotics is in the range of 37-43°C. ⁽¹²¹⁾ Exposure to oxygen during fermentation plays an important role in reducing the viability of oxygen-sensitive bacteria. Various methods are used to reduce oxygen during fermentation. The most important thing is to make the fermentation under the vacuum. ⁽¹²²⁾



Figure 8 Main factors affecting the viability of probiotic food products and during delivery through gastrointestinal tract. ⁽¹²⁰⁾

9.8 Storage

Probiotic supplements should be stored at 4 to 5°C to maintain viability or the microorganisms and should be used before the expiry date. Probiotic products must be stored in a cool place, otherwise they will not stay viable. Some probiotics products, which may be stable products as defined to their manufacturers and stored and shipped requirements must be met.⁽¹²³⁾

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

Materials

- 1. De Man Rogosa Shape (MRS) media (Oxoid, Basingstoke, Hampshire, UK)
- 2. Calcium carbonate (CaCo₃)
- 3. Glycerine (Sigma, USA)
- 4. Skim milk (Difco, USA)
- 5. Anaerobic gas package (MGC, japan)
- 6. Anaerobic jar (Mitsubishi, Japan)
- 7. Light microscope (Nikon, Japan)
- 8. pH meter (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- 9. Incubator (Selecta, Spain)
- 10. Autoclave (Selecta, Spain)
- 11. Laminar flow hood (Nuaire, USA)
- 12. Centrifuge (Sartorius Stedim, Germany)
- 13. Spectrophotometer UV (Shimadzu, Japan)
- 14. Sodium salt of taurodeoxycholic acid (TDCA)
- (Sigma, USA)
- 15. Calcium chloride (CaCl₂) (Merck, Germany)
- 16. Carbohydrates (Merck, Germany)
- 17. L- arabinose, cellobiose, D-galactose, gluconate, melibiose,

 α -methyl-D-glucoside, Rhamnose, salicin, trehalose, sucrose,

Ribosemaltose

19. Xylene

20. Hydrochloric acid (HCL) (Merck, Germany)

21. Potassium phosphate dibasic (K₂HPO₄) (Merck,

Germany)

22. PCR Authorized thermal Cycler (Eppendrof,

Germany)

23. PCR DNA fragment extraction kit (Geneaid
Biotech, Taiwan)
24. Gel electrophoresis chamber MiniRun GE-100
(HandzhouBioer technology, China)
25. Ox gall (sigma, USA)

Methods

1. Isolation and selection of lactic acid bacteria

Lactic acid bacteria were isolated from Thai fermented foods. Ten milliliters De Man Rogosa Shape (MRS) broth was used to enrich and cultivate 1 g of fresh samples and incubated at 37°C for 48 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar. One loop full of broth culture was transferred and streaked on MRS agar plate containing 0.3% calcium carbonate (CaCO3). One single pure colony of lactic acid bacteria was selected by the presence of transparent halo-surrounding the colony. The isolates were firstly screened for catalase activity and Gram staining and was selected only those that are catalase-negative and Gram-positive. Glycerol stock (30% glycerol v/v) of pure cultures was maintained at -80°C for future studies. ^(124, 125)

2. Screening of lactic acid bacteria for bile salt hydrolase activity

Lactic acid bacteria were screened for bile salt hydrolase (BSH) activity by qualitative direct plate BSH assay. Ten microliters (10^9 CFU/ml) of overnight grown cultures in MRS broth was spotted onto sterile MRS agar plates supplemented with 0.5% sodium salt of taurodeoxycholic acid (TDCA, Sigma, USA) and 0.37 g/l of calcium chloride (CaCl₂). Plates were incubated anaerobically at 37°C for 72 hours. After incubation, plates were observed for the appearance of precipitation zones. The BSH activity was determined by the diameter of the precipitation zones. The assay was performed in duplicate.⁽¹²⁶⁻¹²⁸⁾

3. Genotypic characteristics by 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Lactic acid bacteria grown at 37°C for 24 h on MRS agar was used for 16S rRNA gene sequences. The 16S rRNA gene sequences coding region was amplified by PCR in a PCR thermal cycler. The sequences of the PCR products using the prokaryotic 16S ribosomal DNA universal primers 27F(5'AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG-3') and 1492R (5'-GGTTACCTTGTTACGACTT-3') were purified using a Geneaid Gel/PCR DNA fragment Extract Kit (Geneaid Biotech, Bade City, Taiwan). The sequenced analysis of PCR products by Macrogen, Korea was done using universal primers. The similarity of 16S rRNA gene sequences was determined using BLAST software compared to EzTaxon-e database. Multiple alignments of sequence were performed by CLUSTAL X in BioEdit Sequence Alignment Editor Software. The phylogenetic tree was constructed by the neighbor-joining in the MEGA 7 software.⁽¹²⁹⁾

4. Phylogenetic analysis in molecular evolutionary genetics

The 16S rRNA gene sequences obtained was added to publicly available bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences were integrated to the database were an automatic alignment tool. Phylogenetic tree was generated by performing distance matrix analysis using the neighbor joining method. Database search and comparison was done the program MEGA version 7 software. The confidence values of individual branches in the phylogenetic tree were determined using the bootstrap analyses of based on 1000 replications⁽¹³⁰⁾

5. Acid and bile tolerance test

5.1. Acid tolerance

Selected LAB isolates were cultivated into MRS broth at 37°C for 48 h under anaerobic condition. Each strain of 10⁹ CFU/ml was inoculated into MRS broth at various pH values 2.0, 3.0 and 4.0 adjusting with hydrochloric acid (1N HCL). The cultures were incubated at 37°c for 3 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar. After incubation, 10-fold serial dilution was performed with the addition of phosphate

buffer (pH 7.2). One hundred microliters of each serial dilution (10⁻⁴-10⁻⁶) was transferred onto MRS agar plate. The spread plate technique was used and incubated at 37°C for 48 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar. Total viable counts were determined after 3 h incubation and displayed by the log 10 of colonies grown on MRS agar. Unadjusted pH MRS broth (pH 6.5) was used as a control. All experiments were done in duplicate and two experiments. ⁽¹³¹⁾

5.2. Bile tolerance assay

Selected LAB isolates were cultivated into MRS broth at 37°C for 48 h under anaerobic condition. Each strain containing 10⁹ CFU/ml was inoculated into MRS broth at various concentrations of bile salt (0.3 and 0.8%) using Ox gall. The cultures were incubated at 37°C for 3 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar. After incubation, 10-fold serial dilution was performed with the addition of phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). One hundred microliters of each serial dilution (10⁻⁴-10⁻⁶) was transferred onto MRS agar plate. The spread plate technique was used and incubated at 37°C for 48 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar. Total viable counts were determined after 3 h incubation and displayed by the log 10 of colonies grown on MRS agar. Unadjusted pH MRS broth (pH 6.5) was used as a control. All experiments were done in duplicate and two experiments.⁽¹³¹⁾

6. Cell surface hydrophobicity

Bacterial adhesion was determined to assess the adherence potential of microorganisms to surface hydrocarbons, which is a measure of adhesion to epithelial cells of the gut. Lactic acid bacteria were allowed to grow in MRS broth for 18 h and centrifuged. Pellets were washed twice with phosphate urea magnesium sulfate buffer. Pellets were re-suspended in buffer, vortex, and adjusted to absorbance 0.7–0.9 at 600 nm (A0). The cell suspension (3.0 ml) was mixed with 1 ml of hydrocarbon (xylene) and incubated at 37°C for 1 h for aqueous and organic phase separation.

The aqueous phase (1 ml) was carefully removed and absorbance was measured at 600 nm (A1). Percent hydrophobicity was measured by a decrease in absorbance and calculated using following formula.

Percent hydrophobicity =
$$(1 - A1/A0) \times 100$$

The degree of a strain's hydrophobicity was assigned as hight hydrophobicity, moderate hydrophobicity and low hydrophobicity within percentage adhesion values equal >70%, 50–70% and <50% respectively⁽¹³²⁾

7. Hemolytic activity

Lactic acid bacteria isolates were grown for 18 h in MRS medium at 37 °C, and then transferred onto Blood Agar Base plates containing 5 % (v/v) human blood. The plates were incubated for 24 h at 37 °C. The hemolytic reaction was recorded by observation of a clear zone of hydrolysis around the colonies (β -hemolysis), a partial hydrolysis and greening zone (α -hemolysis), or no zone of clearing around the colony (γ -hemolysis), which was considered negative. *Streptococcus pyogenes* was served as positive control.⁽¹³³⁾

8. Antibiotic resistance

The antibiotic resistance patterns of probiotic LAB were determined by a disk diffusion method using the Kirby-Bauer technique. The antibiotic resistance of isolated LAB was assessed using antibiotic discs (Commercial discs from Hi media Laboratories Pvt. Ltd. Mumbai, India) on the surface of Mueller Hinton Agar (MHA) agar and the plates were kept at 40C for 1 h for diffusion, and then incubated at 37C for 24 h. Selected LAB isolates were cultivated into MRS broth at 37°C for 24 h under anaerobic condition. Each strain of selected lactic acid bacteria at the concentration of 10^8 CFU /ml. MHA agar plates with a thickness of 4 ± 1 mm was evenly spreader with 10 ml of probiotic LAB (8.0 log CFU /ml) using a cotton sterile swab. Antibiotic discs were placed which included Chloramphenicol 30 µg, Tetracycline 30 µg, Nalidixic acid 30 µg,

Ampicillin 10 μ g, Gentamicin 10 μ g and Streptomycin 10 μ g on the plates and incubated for 36 h at 37°C. The diameter of the inhibition zone was measured with a Vernier caliper, and the antibiotic resistance was determined according to the Clinical & Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI).⁽¹³⁴⁾

9. Antimicrobial activity against pathogens

Twelve strains that are pathogenic to humans were used as pathogens to investigate the antagonistic activity of the selected LAB. They are *Bacillus subtilis* ATCC 6633, *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922, *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 6538, *Vibrio cholera*, *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*, *Proteus mirabilis*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Shigella dysenteriae*, *salmonella typhi*, *Staphylococcus aureus* MRSA DSMT 20654, *Helicobacter pylori* and *Streptococcus pyogenes*, obtained from the culture collection of Department of Microbiology, Srinakharinwirot University, Thailand.

Each strain of selected LAB was grown in 10 ml MRS broth at 37 °C overnight, after which the cultures were centrifuged at 4000×g for 10 min at 4 °C for removal of bacterial cells. Part of the cell-free supernatants (CFS) was filtration (0.22 μ m pore size; Millipore). An agar-well diffusion assay was used, aliquots of 50–60 μ l of the sterile cell free supernatant were placed in 7 mm diameter wheels on Muller–Hinton-agar plates previously seeded with the respective test pathogens. After 24 h of incubation at 37 °C, the diameters of the zones of growth inhibition were measured. Inhibition zones more than 20 mm, 10–20 mm and less than 10 mm were reviewed as strong, intermediate and low inhibition, respectively. The test was performed twice, each in triplicate. ⁽¹³⁵⁾

10. Fermented milk products using probiotics

Fresh milk (fresh milk 90% (w/w) skim milk 10%) was heated at 80°C for 30 min and allowed to cool to 40°C. Milk was inoculated (3% v/v) with selected probiotic lactic acid bacteria of single culture and mixed of culture at a ratio of 1;1;1 the initial concentration of bacteria was 10⁹ CFU/ml. Incubated at 40°C until pH of the milk reaches 4.6. Changes of pH during fermentation was measured using a digital

pH-meter. Quality parameters of fermented milk during storage at 5°C was evaluated every 7 days for 28 days. The parameters include the viability, pH, Acid and bile tolerance, examine the existence of BSH activity in fermented milk, texture, syneresis, rheological properties and microstructure.

11. The quality parameters of probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk

11.1 Measurement of viability

After incubation, 10-fold serial dilution was performed with the addition of phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). One hundred microliters of each serial dilution (10⁻⁵-10⁻⁹) was transferred onto MRS agar plate. The spread plate technique was used and incubated at 37°C for 48 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar. Total viability was counted and displayed as cell numbers in the log 10 of colonies grown on MRS agar.

11.2 Measurement of pH

The pH values of the fermented milk products were determined using a pH meter after calibration with fresh pH 4.0, 7.0 and 10.0 standard buffers.

11.3 Measurement of Acid and bile tolerance test

11.3.1 Bile tolerance assay of selected LAB in fermented milk

One hundred microliters of fermented milk were transferred onto MRS broth at various concentrations of bile salt (0.3 and 0.8%) using Ox gall. The cultures were incubated at 37°C for 3 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar. After incubation, 10-fold serial dilution was performed with the addition of phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). One hundred microliters of each serial dilution (10⁻⁴-10⁻⁶) was transferred onto MRS agar plate. The spread plate technique was used and incubated at 37°C for 48 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar. Total viable counts were determined after 3 h incubation and displayed by the log 10 of colonies grown on MRS agar. Unadjusted pH MRS broth (pH 6.5) was used as a control. All experiments were done in duplicate and two experiments

11.3.2 Acid tolerance of selected LAB in fermented milk

One hundred microliters of fermented milk were transferred onto MRS broth at various pH values 2.0, and 3.0 adjusting with hydrochloric acid (1N HCL). The cultures were incubated at 37°C for 3 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar after incubation, 10-fold serial dilution was performed with addition of phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). One hundred microliters of each serial dilution (10⁻⁴-10⁻⁶) were transferred onto MRS agar plate. Spread plate technique was used and incubated at 37°C for 48 h under anaerobic condition using anaerobic jar. Total viable counts were determined after 3 h incubation and displayed by the log 10 of colonies grown on MRS agar. Unadjusted pH MRS broth (pH 6.5) was used as control. All experiments were done in duplicate and two experiments.

11.4 Measurement of the existence of BSH activity in fermented milk.

One hundred microliters of fermented milk were transferred onto MRS broth containing various pH values 2.0, and 3.0 adjusting with hydrochloric acid (1N HCL).

11.5 Measurement of texture

After inoculation, the samples of fermented milk products were poured into plastic containers of 52 mm in diameter to a height of 50 mm was reached. The texture of fermented milk was determined using a compression test carried out with a TA. XTplus Texture Analyser (Stable Micro Systems, Surrey, UK). A 20 mm acrylic cylinder probe was used. The test speed is fixed at 1 mm/s and the penetration depth is 10 mm. Firmness was expressed as gram (g), which is a peak force of compression. The texture analysis experiments were repeated three times on different dates.

11.6 Measurement of syneresis

Fermented milk (about 30 g) prepared in centrifuge tubes were centrifuged at 680 x g for 10 min at 4°C. Percent (%) syneresis is calculated as shown in equation..⁽¹³⁶⁾

% Syneresis = Weight of whey (g)/total weight of milk (g) ×100

11.7 Measurement of rheological properties

Dynamic oscillatory measurements were performed with a HAAKE RheoStress1Rheometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) using a plate and cone geometry with 1 mm gap at 4°C. Amplitude sweeps were carried out with strain ranging from 0.05 to 100% and a frequency of 1 Hz. Storage modulus (G') and tan delta (tan δ) was obtained. ⁽¹³⁷⁾

12. Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as mean ± SD. Statistical significance (P<0.05) between groups was determined using One-Way Anova, Tukey's test, GraphPad Prism 8.0



CHAPTER 4 RESULTS

1. Isolation and selection of lactic acid bacteria

A total of 55 lactic acid bacteria were isolated from 10 Thai fermented foods. They were tested for catalase activity and Gram staining. All isolates were found to have the typical characteristics of lactic acid bacteria (LAB). They are Gram-positive, bacilli or cocci and catalase-negative. Fifty-five isolates of lactic acid bacteria are shown in table 6. n of lactic acid bacteria

Table 6 Isolation of lactic acid bacteria

		CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR			
Sample	Location	Isolate no.	Gram	Catalase	Lactic acid
			reaction	test	
Nham moo	Mahasarakham	MN	+	-	+
Nham moo	Mahasarakham	MN2	13	-	+
Nham moo	Mahasarakham	MN3	1.7	-	+
Nham moo	Mahasarakham	MN4	+	-	+
Raw-sausages	Mahasarakham	М	+	-	+
Raw-sausages	Mahasarakham	M2	+	-	+
Raw-sausages	Mahasarakham	М3	+	-	+
Raw-sausages	Mahasarakham	M4	+	-	+
Sour meat	Mahasarakham	SM	+	-	+
Sour meat	Mahasarakham	SM2	+	-	+
Sour meat	Mahasarakham	SM3	+	-	+
Pickled garlic	Mahasarakham	PG	+	-	+
Pickled garlic	Mahasarakham	PG2	+	-	+
Pickled garlic	Mahasarakham	pG3	+	-	+
Pickled garlic	Mahasarakham	PG4	+	-	+
Pickled lettuce	Udonthani	PL	+	-	+

Table 6 (Continued)

Sample	Location	lsolate no.	Gram	Catalase	Lactic acid
			reaction	test	
Pickled lettuce	Udonthani	PL2	+	-	+
Pickled lettuce	Udonthani	PL3	+	-	+
Pickled bamboo	Udonthani	PB	+	-	+
Pickled bamboo	Udonthani	PB2	+	-	+
Pickled bamboo	Udonthani	PB3	+	-	+
Pickled bamboo	Udonthani	PB4	+	-	+
Pickled bamboo	Bangkok	PB5		-	+
Pickled bamboo	Bangkok	PB6	Ċ.	-	+
Pickled bamboo	Bangkok	PB7	+	1	+
Pickled bamboo	Bangkok	PB8	+	-	+
Pickled ginger	Bangkok	PG	- #+		+
Pickled ginger	Bangkok	PG2	l. to	-	+
Pickled ginger	Bangkok	PG3	+	-	+
Pickled ginger	Bangkok	PG4	1 +	-	+
Pickled ginger	Bangkok	PG5	+	-	+
Pickled ginger	Bangkok	PG6	+	-	+
Kimchi (Thai)	Bangkok	KC	+	-	+
Kimchi (Thai)	Bangkok	KC2	+	-	+
Kimchi (Thai)	Bangkok	KC3	+	-	+
Kimchi (Thai)	Bangkok	KC4	+	-	+
Pickled fish	Udonthani	PF	+	-	+
Pickled fish	Udonthani	PF2	+	-	+
Pickled fish	Udonthani	PF3	+	-	+
Pickled fish	Udonthani	PF4	+	-	+
Pickled fish	Udonthani	PF5	+	-	+

Table 6 (Continued)

Sample	Location	Isolate no.	Gram	Catalase	Lactic acid
			reaction	test	
Pickled fish	Udonthani	PF6	+	-	+
Pickled shrimp	Udonthani	PS	+	-	+
Pickled shrimp	Udonthani	PS2	+	-	+
Pickled shrimp	Udonthani	PS3	+	-	+
Pickled shrimp	Udonthani	PS4	+	-	+
Pickled shrimp	Udonthani	PS5	+	-	+
Preserved lemon	Bangkok	PL	7 te	-	+
Pickled shrimp	Bangkok	PL2	+ C		+
Pickled shrimp	Bangkok	PL3	+		+
Rice fermented	Udonthani	RF	+	-	+
Rice fermented	Udonthani	RF2	+	<u>z</u>	+
Rice fermented	Udonthani	RF3	- 1. 6		+
Rice fermented	Udonthani	RF4	+	87 -	+
Rice fermented	Udonthani	RF5		-	+
	<u> </u>				

2. Bile salt hydrolase activity

Fifty-five isolates of lactic acid bacteria were screened for bile salt hydrolase (BSH) activity by qualitative direct plate BSH assay containing 0.5% sodium salt of taurodeoxycholic acid and 0.37 g/l of calcium chloride (CaCl₂) as substrate. After 72 h of incubation, plates were observed for the appearance of precipitation zones around colonies, which indicated that that added bile salt was deconjugated by the action of bacteria bile salt hydrolase. The result showed that 3 of 55 showed that 3 of 55 isolates, MN, MN2 and SM, possessed the strongest ability to produce BHS (Table 7). These lactic acid bacteria had ability to produce BSH enzyme. The deconjugation of BSH activity of LAB isolates and widespread amounts of deoxycholic acid precipitated

around active colonies and diffused into the surrounding medium were shown in Fig. 9-11. LAB with the strong ability to produce BSH were selected for next studies.

Table 7 Bile salt hydrolase of isolate lactic acid bacteria by qualitative direct plateBSH assay

Isolate no.	Bile salt hydrolase activity
MN	+++
MN1	+
MN2	+++
MN3	+
KC2	+
KC4	+
SM	+++
SM1	

+++, Strong bile salt hydrolase activity; ++, modulate bile salt hydrolase activity; +, weak bile salt

hydrolase activity



Figure 9. Bile salt hydrolase activities of isolate MN on MRS agar; precipitation zone was presented by white arrow.

- A: Bile salt hydrolase activity of isolate MN on TDCA plate
- B: Non-bile salt hydrolase plate



Figure 10. Bile salt hydrolase activities of isolate MN2 on MRS agar; precipitation zone was presented by white arrow.

- A: Bile salt hydrolase activity of isolate MN2 on TDCA plate
- B: Non-bile salt hydrolase plate



Figure 11. Bile salt hydrolase activities of isolate SM on MRS agar; precipitation zone was presented by white arrow.

- A: Bile salt hydrolase activity of isolate SM on TDCA plate
- B: Plate non-bile salt hydrolase

3. Genotypic characteristics by 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Three selected LABS with strong ability to produce bile salt hydrolase activity were identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing. The rRNA gene sequencing was determined using BLAST software compared to Eztexon-e database. Identification by 16S rDNA gene of selected lactic acid bacteria showed that MN and MN2 isolate were closely related to *Lactobacillus paraplantarum* DMS 10667^T and *Lactobacillus plantarum* subsp. argentoratensis DK0 22^T with similarity scores of 100% for both isolates. Isolate SM show 99.78% similarity scores to *Lactobacillus gasseri* ATCC 33323^T. Accordingly, 3 selected lactic acid bacterial isolates were identified and belonging to genera Lactobacillus as presented in table 8.

Table 8 Genotypic identification of LAB isolates on 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Isolate no.	Closely species	Similarity
MN	Lactobacillus paraplantarum DSM 10667 ^T	100%
MN2	Lactobacillus plantarum subsp. argentoratensis DK0 22^{T}	100%
SM	Lactobacillus gasseri ATCC 33323 ^T	99.78%

4. Phylogenetic analysis in molecular evolutionary genetics

Phylogenetic tree analysis was performed to reveal the relationship between the representative isolates and known reference strain. The Phylogenetic tree analysis was constructed with neighbor-joining as inferred by the neighbor- joining method. Bootstrap values (expresses as percentages of 1,000 replication) 3 selected lactic acid bacterial exhibit cluster of Lactobacillus (Fig. 12)



0.01

Figure 12 Phylogenetic tree based on 16S rRNA gene sequences.

Phylogenetic tree based on 16S rRNA gene sequences *showing* the relationships of the isolates strain MN, MN2 and SM with their closest relatives among the genus Lactobacillus. The phylogenetic tree was constructed using software MEGA 7.0 by the neighbour-joining method

5. Acid and bile tolerance test

The resistance to acid and bile in the human gastrointestinal tract constitutes key selection criteria for probiotic bacteria.

5.1 Acid tolerance

Acid tolerance of the 3 isolates lactic acid bacteria were investigated (table 9. and figures 13-15). In this study three tested isolates exhibited low pH tolerance. Isolates of lactic acid bacteria including, MN, MN2 and SM were incubated in MRS broth at pH 2.0, 3.0 and 4.0 for 3 h At pH 4.0 and pH 3.0 all isolates demonstrated significant growth reduction compared to those incubated in MRS condition. At pH 2.0, all isolates did not survive. In addition, at pH 3.0 isolate SM showed the highest tolerance among the three strains.

Isolate no.	5	Resista	ance to acid	
	MRS control	pH 2.0	pH 3.0	pH 4.0
MN	8.32 ± 0.05^{Aa}	0 ^{Ba}	8.13 ± 0.00^{Ca}	7.78 ± 0.01 ^{Da}
MN2	8.31 ± 0.05^{Aa}	0 ^{Ba}	8.06 ± 0.03^{Ca}	7.81 ± 0.03^{Da}
SM	8.31 ± 0.01^{Aa}	0 ^{Ba}	8.13 ± 0.00^{Ca}	7.88 ± 0.01 ^{Da}

Table 9 Acid tolerance of selected lactic acid bacteria.

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Numbers (log10) of lactic acid bacteria. Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different acid concentration and columns for lactic acid bacteria, respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 13 Acid tolerance of isolate MN. Values with a different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 14 Acid tolerance of isolate MN2. Values with a different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 15 Acid tolerance of isolate SM. Values with a different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05).

5.2 Bile tolerance

Bile tolerance of the three isolates was also Bile tolerance of the three isolates was investigated, and the results are shown in table 10 and figures 16-18. The results showed that all isolates demonstrated significant reduced growth viable cells (p<0.05) from MRS when cultured with 0.3% and 0.8% bile concentration. The survival of all isolates decreased about 1 log values in 0.8 % of bile salt.

Resistance to bile			
MRS	0.3%	0.8%	
8.36±0.03 ^{Aa}	7.87 ±0.02 ^{Ba}	7.02 ± 0.02^{Ca}	
8.38±0.01 ^{Aa}	7.85 ± 0.3^{Ba}	6.99±0.06 ^{Ca}	
8.34±0.05 ^{Aa}	7.77±0.02 ^{Ba}	6.87±0.04 ^{Ca}	
	Resistance to b MRS 8.36±0.03 ^{Aa} 8.38±0.01 ^{Aa} 8.34±0.05 ^{Aa}	Resistance to bileMRS 0.3% 8.36 ± 0.03^{Aa} 7.87 ± 0.02^{Ba} 8.38 ± 0.01^{Aa} 7.85 ± 0.3^{Ba} 8.34 ± 0.05^{Aa} 7.77 ± 0.02^{Ba}	

Table 10 Bile tolerance of selected lactic acid bacteria.

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Numbers (log10) of lactic acid bacteria. Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different ox gall concentration and columns for lactic acid bacteria, respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 16 Bile tolerance of isolate MN. Values with a different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 17 Bile tolerance of isolate MN2. Values with a different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 18 Bile tolerance of isolate SM. Values with a different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05).

6. Cell surface hydrophobicity

Microbial adhesion to biological surfaces were an important criterion for selection of probiotic strains. In the present study, isolates were evaluated for cell surface properties toward hydrocarbon xylene. The percent hydrophobic value of MN, MN2 and SM was 64.26%, 57.80% and 49.90% respectively. Isolate MN showed maximum affinity toward xylene (64.26%) than other isolates (Table 11).

Table 11 Cell surface hydrophobicity of isolates lactic acid bacteria.

Isolate no.	Hydrophobicity (%)
MN	64.26
MN2	57.80
SM	49.90

7. Antibiotic susceptibility

Selected lactic acid bacteria showed resistance to nalidixic acid and streptomycin. Also, maximum susceptibility of all isolates was observed against chloramphenicol, tetracycline, ampicillin and gentamicin (Table 12.).

Antibiotics	Concentration (µg/disc)	MN	MN2	SM
Chloramphenicol	30	S	S	S
Tetracycline	30	S	S	S
Nalidixic acid	30	R	R	R
Ampicillin	10	S	S	S
Gentamicin	10	S	S	S
Streptomycin	10	R	R	R

Table 12 Antibiotic susceptibility pattern of selected lactic acid bacteria

R, resistant; S, sensitive

8. Hemolytic activity

Potential probiotics should be safe and non-pathogenic. All the three isolates were incapable of exhibiting hemolysis on the agar media containing 5% blood. Therefore, selected LAB do not exhibit pathogenicity and are safe for consumption. All selected lactic acid bacteria demonstrated non – hemolytic (γ -hemolysis) as confirmed by zone of hemolytic pattern (Fig.19-21).



Figure 19 Hemolytic activities of isolate MN on Blood agar; no zone of clearing around the colony (γ -hemolysis) were presented by white arrow.

- A: Hemolytic Control plate
- B: Non-hemolytic plate

Figure 20 Hemolytic activities of isolate MN2 on Blood agar; no zone of clearing around the colony (γ -hemolysis) were presented by white arrow.

- A: Plate hemolytic Control
- B: Plate non-hemolytic



Figure 21 Hemolytic activities of isolate SM on Blood agar; no zone of clearing around

the colony (γ -hemolysis) were presented by white arrow.

- A: Plate hemolytic Control
- B: Plate non-hemolytic

9. Antimicrobial activity against pathogens

Isolates were tested for antimicrobial activity against pathogens (table13.). Isolates MN2 presented non-antimicrobial activity against pathogens as observed from showed non-inhibit zone against all pathogens. However, isolate MN showed poor inhibition against *Shigella dysenteria* and isolate SM showed low inhibition against *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and *Shigella dysenteria*.

Table 13 Antimicrobial activity against pathogens of isolated lactic acid bacteria and zone of inhibition (ZOI) against tested pathogens.

Isolate no.	Tested bacterial strains (with ZOI in mm)		
	MN	MN2	SM
Bacillus subtilis ATCC 6633	-	-	-
Escherichia coli ATCC 25922	-	-	-
Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 25423	-	-	-
Vibrio Cholera DMST 2873	-	-	-
Vibrio parahaemolyticus DMST 5665	-	-	+
Table 13 (Continued)

Isolate no.	Tested bacterial strains (with ZOI in mm)		vith ZOI in mm)
_	MN	MN2	SM
Proteus mirabilis ATCC 13315	-	-	-
Pseudomonas aeruginosa ATCC 21853	-	-	-
Helicobacter pylori H40	-	-	-
Staphylococcus aureus MRSA DSMT 20654	-	-	-
Streptococcus pyogenes A 034		-	-
Shigella dysenteria DMST 15111	1.7+	-	+
salmonella typhi DMST 5781	5		-

ZOI, Zone of inhibition, — no effect detected, +, diameter of inhibition zone 5 -10 mm; ++, 11-17 mm; +++, > 17 mm.

10. Fermented milk products using probiotics

Table. 14 presents fermentation times (to reach pH 4.6) for the prepared fermented milks (initial pH of milk was 6.74). Fermented milk with mixture culture used the shortest fermentation time. Long fermentation times (21 h) were observed in SM.

Table 14 Fermentation times (means \pm SD) to reach pH 4.5 for selected probiotic lactic acid bacteria of single culture and mixed culture used in the manufacturing of fermented milks.

•••••

Isolate no	Fermented times (h)
MN	18.5 ±0.070
MN2	19.5±0.070
SM	21±1.414
Mixture culture	16.25 ±0.353

11. The quality parameters of probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk

11.1. Viability lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk products during storage

Figure 22 presents changes in Lactic acid bacteria counts during fermentation and storage of fermented milk. Inoculation was initially at ~ log109 CFU/mL: counts 24 h after 24 h At day 1, LAB counts were at 9.28 9.33 9.43 and 9.42 log CFU/g for MN, MN2, SM and MIX, respectively (table 15). However, on 28 days of storage the fermented milk with SM has the highest number of bacteria counts.

		and the second se			
Storage (day)	Viability of fermented milks product				
	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture	
1	9.28 ± 0.04^{Aa}	9.33 ± 0.08^{Aa}	9.43 ± 0.03^{Aa}	9.42 ± 0.03^{Aa}	
7	9.25 ± 0.03^{Aa}	9.25 ± 0.06^{Aa}	9.32 ± 0.14^{Aab}	9.28 ± 0.01^{Aab}	
14	9.09 ± 0.02^{Aa}	9.12 ± 0.06^{Aab}	9.23 ± 0.05^{Abc}	9.16 ± 0.02^{Ab}	
21	8.77 ± 0.10^{Ab}	8.94 ± 0.13^{Ab}	8.95 ± 0.03^{Ac}	9.07 ± 0.05^{Ab}	
28	8 ± 0^{Ac}	8 ± 0^{Ac}	8.30 ± 0.21^{Ad}	8 ± 0^{Ac}	

Table 15 Viability of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milks during storage.

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Numbers (log10) of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk. Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different fermented milk with lactic acid bacteria and columns for time (day), respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 22 Viability of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milks during storage.
MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus paraplantarum* MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus plantarum* SM: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus gasserri* Mixed culture: fermented milk Mixed culture

11.2 pH of fermented milk products during storage

pH values of fermented milks decreased during storage. Significant differences (P < 0.0001) in the pH of fermented milk during storage were detected. Fermented milk with MN, MN2, SM and Mixture culture obtained pH decrease during 28 days of storage (5°C) when the initial pH values were 4.6. Over the total storage period, the most changes in pH were seen in fermented milk with MN, MN2, SM and Mixture culture, which it decreased from 4.6 in day 1 to 4, 4, 3.98 and 4.05 respectively in 28 days of during storage. Fermented milk that include isolate SM presented the highest acidity values in storage for 28 days. Table 16 and Figure 23 show the tendency of fermented milk pH to reduce during storage.

Storage (day)	pH fermented milk product			
	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture
1	4.6 ± 0.021^{Aa}	4.60 ± 0.021^{Aa}	4.61 ± 0.041^{Aa}	4.6 ± 0.095^{Aa}
7	4.4 ± 0.057^{Ab}	4.38 ± 0.021^{Ab}	4.33 ±0.013 ^{Ab}	4.47 ± 0.135^{Ab}
14	4.3 ± 0.021^{Ab}	4.29 ± 0.042^{Ab}	4.24 ± 0.036^{Ac}	4.3 ± 0.031^{Ac}
21	4.1 ± 0.024^{Ac}	4.1 ± 0.042^{Ac}	4.1 ± 0.088^{Ac}	4.16 ± 0.088^{Ad}
28	4 ± 0.028^{Ad}	4 ± 0.021^{Ac}	$3.98 \pm 0.21^{\text{Ad}}$	4.05 ± 0.212^{Ae}

Table 16 pH in fermented milks during storage

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Numbers (log10) of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk. Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different fermented milk with lactic acid bacteria and columns for time (day), respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 23 pH changes of fermented milks during storage.

MN: fermented milk with Lactobacillus paraplantarum MN: fermented milk with
 Lactobacillus plantarum SM: fermented milk with Lactobacillus gasserri W Mixed culture:
 fermented milk Mixed culture

11.3 Acid and bile tolerance of probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk.

11.3.1 Acid tolerance assay of selected LAB in fermented milk.

The effect of acidic conditions on the viability of probiotics lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk was shown (Table17). At pH3 of 28-day storage of fermented milk with MN2, SM and Mixed culture showed significant decrease on 14 days of storage and fermented milk with MN significant decrease on 7 days of storage. On 1 to 28 day of storage fermented milk with MN MN2, SM and MIX decreased log 0.79, 0.85, 1.17 and 0.95 respectively

Fermented milk with MN, MN2 and SM isolates not survive at pH 2 on 14 21 and 28 day of storage (table 18.). Fermented milk with Mixed culture did not survive at pH 2 on 14, 21, and 28 days of storage. However, fermented milk with Mixed culture was tolerance acid pH2 lowest (table18).

Table 17	Acid tolerance pH	3 of probiotic	lactic acid	l bacteria i	in fermented	milk
products.						

Storage (day)	Acid tolerance pH 3 (3h)			
	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture
1	7.02 ± 0.02^{Aa}	7.17 ± 0.08^{Aa}	7.17 ± 0.04^{Aa}	7.10 ± 0.09^{Aa}
7	6.92 ± 0.03^{Aab}	6.95 ± 0.06^{Ab}	7.02 ±0.02 ^{Aa}	7.05 ± 0.13^{Aa}
14	6.87 ± 0.04^{Aab}	6.81 ± 0.04^{Abc}	6.65 ± 0.06^{Ab}	6.92 ± 0.03^{Aab}
21	6.53 ±0.08A ^{bc}	6.65 ± 0.06^{Abc}	6.38 ± 0.12^{Ab}	6.53 ± 0.08^{Abc}
28	6.23 ± 4.24^{Ac}	6.32 ± 4.45^{Ac}	6. $\pm 0^{Ab}$	6.15± 0.21 ^{Ac}

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Numbers (log10) of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk. Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different fermented milk with lactic acid bacteria and columns for time (day), respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).

Storage (day)	Acid tolerance pH 2 (3h)				
	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture	
1	6.38 ± 0.124^{Aa}	6.15 ± 0.212^{Aa}	6.38 ± 0.124^{Aa}	6.38 ± 0.124^{Aa}	
7	6.15 ± 0.212^{Aa}	6.1 ± 0.212^{Aa}	6.23 ±0.088 ^{Aa}	6 ^{Ab}	
14	0 ^{Ab}	0 ^{Ab}	0 ^{Ab}	0 ^{Ac}	
21	0 ^{Ab}	0 ^{Ab}	0 ^{Ab}	0 ^{Ac}	
28	0 ^{Ab}	0 ^{Ab}	0 ^{Ab}	0^{Ac}	

Table 18 Acid tolerance pH 2 of probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk products.

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Numbers (log10) of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk. Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different fermented milk with lactic acid bacteria and columns for time (day), respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).

11.3.2 Bile tolerance assay of selected LAB in fermented milk.

Bile tolerance 0.3 % and 0.8% of fermented milks with probiotic lactic acid bacteria 3 h exposure was demonstrated in table 19 and 20 present. Twenty - eight day of storage fermented milk with MN, MN2, SM and Mixed culture showed cells number decreased when exposure to ox gall 0.3% and 0.8%. At ox gall 0.3% the fermented milk of all isolates showed significant decrease on 7 days of storage. At ox gall 0.3% on 1 to 28 day of storage fermented milk with MN, MN2, storage fermented milk with MN, MN2, SM and MIX decreased log 1.22, 0.92, 1.39 and 1.42 respectively (table19.).

At ox gall 0.8 % fermented milk with MN SM and Mixed culture showed significant decrease on 7 days of storage and fermented milk with MN2 significant decrease on 14 days of storage. At ox gall 0.8% on 1 to 28 day of storage fermented milk with MN, MN2, SM and Mixed culture decreased log 1.22 1.08 1.31 and 1.42 respectively. However, at ox gall 0.8% fermented milks with Mixed culture found survive cell lowest (table 20.).

Storage (day)	Bile tolerance of 0.3 % Ox gall (3h)			
_	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture
1	8.60 ± 0.30^{Aa}	8.57 ± 4.04^{Aa}	8.54 ± 0.06^{Aa}	8.57 ± 0.03^{Aa}
7	8.47 ± 0.04^{Ab}	8.40 ± 0.012^{Ab}	8.45 ± 0.03^{Ab}	8.45 ± 0.03^{Ab}
14	8.30 ± 0.03^{Ac}	8.26 ± 0.016^{Ab}	8.19 ± 0.01^{Abc}	8.19 ± 0.01^{Ac}
21	$7.81 \pm 0.04^{\text{Ad}}$	7.95 ± 0.06^{Ac}	7.99 ± 0.06^{Ac}	7.99 ± 0.06^{Ac}
28	$7.38 \pm 0.12^{\text{Ad}}$	7.65 ± 0.06^{Ac}	7.15 ± 0.88 ^{Ac}	7.15 ± 0.21^{Ad}

Table 19 Bile Tolerance Ox gall 0.3 % test in fermented milk products during storage.

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Numbers (log10) of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk. Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different fermented milk with lactic acid bacteria and columns for time (day), respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).

Table 20 Bile Tolerance Ox gall 0.8 % test in fermented milk products during storage.

Storage (day)	Bile tolerance of 0.8 % Ox gall (3h)			
	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture
1	8.37 ± 0.025^{Aa}	8.28 ± 4.015^{Aa}	8.31 ± 0.014^{Aa}	8.28 ± 0.015 ^{Aa}
7	8.26 ± 0.016 ^{Ab}	8.22 ± 0.036^{Aa}	8.16 ±0.021 ^{ABb}	8.05 ± 0.080^{Bb}
14	7.97 ± 0.032^{Ac}	8.03 ± 0.112^{Ab}	8.03 ± 0.055^{Ab}	7.89 ± 0.077^{Ab}
21	7.65 ± 0.068^{Ac}	7.92 ± 0.109^{Ab}	7.92 ± 0.036^{Ab}	7.73 ± 0.055^{Ab}
28	7.15 ± 0.212 ^{Ac}	7.15 ± 0.212 ^{Ac}	7 ± 0^{Ac}	6.84 ± 0.212^{Ac}

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Numbers (log10) of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk. Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different fermented milk with lactic acid bacteria and columns for time (day), respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).

11.4 The existence of BSH activity probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk during storage.

The existence of BSH activity in fermented milk was demonstrated in table 21. Fermented milk with all isolates showed existence of maximum BSH activity in fermented milk on 1, 7, 14, 21 days of storage and dwindle on 28 days of storage. However, on 28 day of storage fermented milk with MIX presented the least existence of BSH activity in fermented milk.

Table 21 The existence of BSH activity probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk during storage.

Storage (day)	Bile salt hydrolase activity				
	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture	
1	5+++	+++	+++	+++	
7	+++	+++	+++	+++	
14	+++	+++	+++	+++	
21	+++	+++	+++	+++	
28	++	21++11.2	++	+	

+++, Strong bile salt hydrolase activity; ++, modulate bile salt hydrolase activity; +, weak bile salt hydrolase activity



Figure 24 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day1) on MRS agar precipitation zone

A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA

B: Control



Figure 25 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day1) on

MRS agar precipitation zone

- A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA
- B: Control



Figure 26 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day1) on MRS agar precipitation zone

- A: plate containing 0.5% TDC
- B: Control



Figure 27 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage

day1) on MRS agar precipitation zone

- A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA
- B: Control



Figure 28 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day7) on MRS agar precipitation zone

A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA

B: Control



Figure 29 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day7) on

MRS agar precipitation zone

A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA



Figure 30 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day7) on MRS agar precipitation zone

- A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA
- B: Control



Figure 31 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage day7) on MRS agar precipitation zone A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA



Figure 32 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day14) on MRS agar precipitation zone

A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA

B: Control



Figure 33 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day14) on MRS agar precipitation zone A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA



Figure 34 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day14) on MRS agar precipitation zone A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA

B: Control



Figure 35 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage day14) on MRS agar precipitation zone

A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA



Figure 36 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day21) on MRS agar precipitation zone A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA

B: Control



Figure 37 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day21) on MRS agar precipitation zone

- A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA
- B: Control



Figure 38 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day21) on MRS agar precipitation zone

- A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA
- B: Control



Figure 39 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage day21) on MRS agar precipitation zone A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA

- B: Control



Figure 40 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN (Storage day28) on MRS agar precipitation zone

A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA

B: Control



Figure 41 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with MN2 (Storage day28) on MRS agar precipitation zone

- A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA
- B: Control



Figure 42 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with SM (Storage day28) on MRS agar precipitation zone

- A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA
- B: Control



Figure 43 Bile salt hydrolase activity of fermented milks with Mixed culture (Storage

day28) on MRS agar precipitation zone

- A: plate containing 0.5% TDCA
- B: Control

11.5 Texture of fermented milk products.

Texture is a very important characteristic of fermented milk. In the current study, the firmness values of fermented milk during 28 days storage are presented in table 22. Firmness of fermented with MN MN2 and MIX significantly increased (p<0.05) during 7-day storage and firmness of fermented with SM significantly increased (p<0.05) during 14-day storage. Fermented milk with mixed culture exhibited the highest values of firmness.

Table 22 Firmness of	fermented milk during storage.	

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Storage (day)	Firmness (g)				
	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture	
1	40.75 ± 0.91^{Aa}	48.55± 1.06 ^{Ba}	49.35± 1.90 ^{Ba}	64.49 ± 0.28^{Ca}	
7	47.30 ± 2.68^{Ab}	$50.55 \pm 0.80^{\text{Bab}}$	51.4 ± 0.42^{Ba}	73.9 ± 2.54^{Cb}	
14	46.05 ± 0.49^{Ab}	53.05 ± 2.33 ^{Bb}	62.20 ± 1.27 ^{Cb}	74.4 ± 3.25 ^{Db}	
21	46.85 ± 1.76^{Ab}	54.20 ± 0.70^{Bab}	63.75 ± 0.91 ^{Cb}	$76.3 \pm 0.28^{\text{Db}}$	
28	49.20 ± 0.14^{Ab}	$57.05 \pm 0.63^{\text{Aab}}$	63.65 ± 0.35 ^{Bb}	77.6 ± 1.06^{Cb}	

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different fermented milk with lactic acid bacteria and columns for time (day), respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).

11.6 Syneresis of fermented milk products

Syneresis of fermented milks during storage was shown in table 23 and figure 44. Fermented milks with MN and mixed culture exhibited significant increases in % syneresis on day 7. Fermented milks with MN2 and SM significant increases in % syneresis on day 14.

Storage (day)	%Syneresis				
	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture	
1	0 ^{Aa}	0 ^{Aa}	0 ^{Aa}	0 ^{Aa}	
7	$3.3 \pm 0A^{Bab}$	5.5 ± 1.92^{Ab}	3.66 ± 0.57^{ABb}	0 ^{Ba}	
14	3.8 ± 0.962^{Ab}	6.66 ± 0^{Ab}	6.66 ± 0^{Abc}	5 ± 0^{Ab}	
21	7.77 ± 1.92 ^{Ac}	10 ± 3.3^{Ac}	$10 \pm 0^{\text{Acd}}$	6.6 ± 0^{Abc}	
28	11.11 ± 1.92 ^{Ac}	12.22 ± 1.92 ^{Ac}	13 ± 0^{Ad}	10 ± 0^{Ac}	

Table 23 % Syneresis of fermented milks during storage.

Each value in the table represents the mean value \pm Standard Deviation (SD). Mean values followed by difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different fermented milk with lactic acid bacteria and columns for time (day), respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 44 % Syneresis of fermented milks during storage

MN: fermented milk with Lactobacillus paraplantarum MN: fermented milk with
 Lactobacillus plantarum SM: fermented milk with Lactobacillus gasserri V Mixed culture:
 fermented milk with mixed cultur

11.7 Rheological properties of fermented milk products

The elastic modulus (G') of the fermented milk is presented in table G' values significantly increased at higher frequencies of fermented milk with MN MN2 SM and MIX. G' data indicated that all the samples showed a very slight dependency on frequency interval of 0.1–10 Hz (Fig.). The storage modulus (G') of all samples increased

Storage (day)	Rheological characteristics (G' (Pa))				
	MN	MN2	SM	Mixed culture	
1	39.55 ^{Aa}	54.36 ^{Aa}	95.68 ^{Ba}	77.36 ^{ABa}	
7	46.93 ^{Aa}	64.20 ^{ABa}	89.08 ^{Ba}	101.47 ^{Bab}	
14	63.33A ^{ab}	67.71 ^{Aa}	77.94 ^{Aa}	99.75 ^{Aab}	
21	95.96 ^{Ab}	73.26 ^{Aab}	81.32 ^{Aa}	102.08 ^{Aab}	
28	97.48 ^{Ab}	109.14 ^{Ab}	114.008 ^{Aa}	133.35 ^{Ab}	

Table 24 Rheological characteristics of fermented milk product

Difference superscript uppercase and lowercase letters in row for different fermented milk with lactic acid bacteria and columns for time (day), respectively, are significantly different (p < 0.05).



Figure 45 Dependence of G['] on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 1 day
MN: fermented milk with Lactobacillus paraplantarum ■ MN: fermented milk with Lactobacillus plantarum ▲ SM: fermented milk with Lactobacillus gasserri ▼ Mixed culture: fermented milk with mixed culture



Figure 46 Dependence of G[′] on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 7 days MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus paraplantarum* ■ MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus plantarum* ▲ SM: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus gasserri* ▼ Mixed culture: fermented milk with mixed culture



Figure 47 Dependence of G[′] on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 14 days MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus paraplantarum* ■ MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus plantarum* ▲ SM: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus gasserri* ▼ Mixed culture: fermented milk with mixed culture



Figure 48 Dependence of G[′] on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 21 days MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus paraplantarum* ■ MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus plantarum* ▲ SM: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus gasserri* ▼ Mixed culture: fermented milk with mixed culture



Figure 49 Dependence of G[′] on frequency for fermented milk during storage on 28 days MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus paraplantarum* ■ MN: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus plantarum* ▲ SM: fermented milk with *Lactobacillus gasserri* ▼ Mixed culture: fermented milk with mixed culture

CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION

Beneficial effects from the consumption of probiotics, including improvement of intestinal health by the regulation of microbiota, and enhancing the bioavailability of nutrients, reducing symptoms of lactose intolerance, and reducing the risk of certain other diseases.⁽¹³⁸⁾ The most essential probiotic properties must be able to survive and colonize in the human gastrointestinal tract, and thus must be able to tolerate pH and concentration of bile acids. It should not be toxic, allergic and non-pathogenic. In addition, it should be recognized by the immune system. Most probiotics are lactic acid bacteria that have been studied for a long time, and most of them are non-pathogenic^(139, 140) In the present study, we proposed to isolate lactic acid bacteria from Thai fermented foods, evaluated for these parameters under laboratory conditions. Probiotic bacteria were different in beneficial effects to the host, they are strain specific. This study focused on bile salt hydrolase activity by lactic acid bacteria and determine the technological potential of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Thai fermented foods in view of their application in the fermented milk product.

Bile salt hydrolase activity of lactic acid bacteria dwell in the gastrointestinal tract is often associated with its cholesterol-lowering effects. The ability of probiotic strains to hydrolyze bile salts has often been included among the probiotic strain selection criteria. Bile acids are synthesized from cholesterol and conjugated to either glycine or taurine in the liver. Bile salt hydrolase hydrolyses conjugated to deconjugated bile salt and release free bile acid and amino acid residues. Deconjugated bile salts are few efficiently reabsorbed than conjugated bile salts, which results in the excretion of free bile acids in feces, the synthesis of new bile salt from cholesterol can potentially reduce the total cholesterol concentration in the body. The high bile salt hydrolase activity of lactobacilli might have some role in the reduction of the serum cholesterol level.

In this study, 55 lactic acid bacteria were investigated for the production of bile salt hydrolase enzyme described by direct plate assay. LAB were spotted on MRS agar supplemented with taurodeoxy cholic acid (TDCA) and incubated in anaerobic condition at 37 ^oc for 72 h as showed in the Table 7, the result showed that 10 isolates from 55 LAB isolates exhibited bile salt hydrolase activity. When LAB isolate producing bile salt hydrolase were spread on MRS plates supplemented with TDCA, the taurine conjugated bile acid was deconjugated producing deoxycholic acid.⁽¹²⁶⁾ The deconjugation activity of LAB isolates were demonstrated in Figure 9-11 and plenty amounts of deoxycholic acid precipitated around active colonies and diffused into the surrounding medium. Three lactic acid bacteria which were MN, MN2, and SM which had the strongest bile salt hydrolase activity were proceeded to probiotic properties tests and identify the species.

Ru *et al* (2018). Reported that lactic acid bacterial strains from foods were screened for bile salt hydrolase activity. The result showed that the strains isolated from the fermented vegetables showed higher incidence of BSH-positive strains than those isolated from the fermented milk (46% versus 30%). BSH-positive strains, including *Lactobacilus hammesii*, *Lactobacilus brevis*, *Lactobacilus casei*, *Lactobacilus plantarum*, and *Lactobacilus paracasei*.⁽¹⁴¹⁾ Similar results were reported by Liong and Shah (2005) and Kimoto *et al* (2005) showed highest deconjugation ability (BSH activity) was observed for *Lactobacillus acidophilus* ATCC 33200, and *Lactobacillus casei* ASCC 1521. Many studies suggest that the cholesterol removal mechanism *in vitro* is linked to the bile salt hydrolase activity of probiotic strains^(142, 143)

In this study, 3 of total 55 isolation has the effect of producing bile salt hydrolase. Identification of species of lactic acid bacteria were performed by 16S rDNA sequencing. The 16S rDNA sequencing was determined using BLAST software compared to Eztexon-e database and phylogenetic tree analysis. The result showed that 3 lactic acid bacteria MN and MN2 isolate was closely related to *Lactobacillus paraplantarum* DMS 10667^T and *Lactobacillus plantarum* subsp. argentoratensis DK0

22^T similarity scores was 100% respectively. Isolate SM show 99.78% similarity scores to *Lactobacillus gasseri* ATCC 33323^T.

Ahn *et al* (2003), Elkins *at al* (2001) and Dong *at al* (2012) reported the bile salt hydrolase activity of the *Lactobacillus plantarum* and *Lactobacillus gasseri*. ^(28, 144, 145) Many reports on hypocholesterolemic effects *in vivo* by BSH-producing lactic acid bacteria have led to increased attention in maintaining cholesterol levels in normal people or the possible applications for hypercholesterolemia individuals.^(146, 147)

Microorganisms to be applied as probiotic must be able to survive and colonize in the human gastrointestinal tract. In order to reach active and viable enough through GIT, they should be resistant to acid, lysozyme and bile.⁽¹⁴⁸⁾ The ability of bacteria to survive in the gastrointestinal tract is an important probiotic property. The pH of excreted HCI in stomach is 2.0, but the presence of food raises the pH value to 3.0. In the study, 3 isolates were tested for acid tolerance. The low pH tolerance of lactic acid bacteria was determined at pH values 2.0, 3.0 and 4.0. The results show that all isolates could survive after incubation for 3 h at pH 3.0 and pH 4.0 but at pH 2.0 all isolate were not survive.

Good probiotic sources should withstand at least pH 3.0. Generally, there is a reduction in probiotic count, as they were exposed to pH 2.0 and pH 3.0 and the count is fairly constant at pH 4.0 and MRS control (Table 9.). These results are in agreement with the study of Guo *et al* (2010). They reported that the viable cell counts of all lactic acid bacteria were significantly affected by the low acidity, especially at pH 2.5 and 2.0. ^(149, 150)According to Zavaglia *et al* (2002) reported that hydrochloric acid (HCI) found in the human stomach is a strong oxidizer. Therefore, able to oxidize many important biomolecules in the cell and destroy them while it is undergo reduction. As demonstrated by Sultana *et al* (2000) and Chan and Zhang (2005), lactic acid bacteria members such as *L. acidophilus*, *L. plantarum* mainly could not survive in low pH environment as these cells were proven to be vulnerable at pH 2.0 and below.⁽¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵³⁾ Many studies also confirmed that exposing to acid with 2 after 3 hours incubation caused reduction in viable counts of lactic acid bacteria intensively.^(154, 155) Therefore,

result in table 9 indicates the strong inhibition on the viable bacteria numbers at pH 2.0 was well supported.

After the bacteria have passed the stomach, they enter the upper intestinal. The relevant physiological concentrations of human bile range from 0.3% to 0.5%. The presence of bile salt hydrolase (BSH) in probiotics perform them more tolerant to bile salts⁽¹⁵⁶⁾ Bile tolerance test of 3 isolates lactic acid bacteria result showed that all isolates could survive after incubation for 3 h at ox gall concentration 0.3. At ox gall 0.8% the trend cell decreased, with higher inhibition of growth seen as the bile concentrations increased MRS broth as control for all experiments and it recorded the highest growth. (Table 10).

Overall in the results, bile did not inhibit the growth of the bacteria completely as even when subjected to 0.8% of bile, there is still a high number $\sim \log 10^6 \cdot 10^7$ CFU/mL. The selective probiotic strains proved to present an excellent quality of bile tolerance. Another important factor is the bile salt hydrolase (BSH) activity which accounts for the bile salt resistance. They can be producing bile salt hydrolase enzyme. Lactic acid bacteria with positive for BSH activity implying that it might survive better in the host GI tract, because bacterial BSH mediates deconjugation of bile salts which improves the intestinal viability of probiotics.⁽¹⁵⁷⁾ Study by Suskovic *et al* (2001) showed that some strains where BSH hydrolase conjugated bile, thus reducing its bactericidal effect.

Microbial adhesion to the surface of the intestinal mucus and epithelial cells is one of the most important characteristics of probiotics. It influences the antimicrobial and immunomodulation effects that depend on colonization of the gastrointestinal tract by probiotic bacteria. The physical and chemical properties of the surface of bacterial cells depend mainly on its hydrophobicity.^(158, 159) In order to gain information on the structural properties of the cell surface of lactic acid bacteria that are responsible for aggregation and adhesion, its hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity.

In the study, 3 isolates were tested for cell surface hydrophobicity the result showed the percent hydrophobic value of MN, MN2 and SM was 64.26%,57.80% and

50.0% respectively. Isolate MN showed maximum affinity toward xylene (64.26%) than other isolates. The hydrophobic reaction of bacteria plays an important role in the adhesion and formation of biofilm.²²⁽¹⁶⁰⁾ However, the observation by Yadav *et al* (2016) studies potential probiotic *Lactobacillus i*solated from indigenous fermented beverage Raabadi, consumed during summers in Haryana and Rajasthan regions of India found that *Lactobacillus plantarum* RYPR1. They showed values of hydrophobicity highest 79.13%.⁽¹⁶¹⁾

Currently, bacteria species clinically relevant are the focus for the study on the presence and dissemination of antibiotic resistance.⁽¹⁶²⁾ The important requirement for probiotic strains is that they should not carry transmissible antibiotic resistance genes.²⁵ ⁽¹⁶³⁾In the present study regarding antibiotic resistance, the isolates showed resistance to nalidixic acid and streptomycin. Also, maximum susceptibility of all isolates was observed against chloramphenicol, tetracycline, ampicillin and gentamicin.

Kirtzalidou *et al (2011)*, Fukao *et al* reported that amongst lactobacilli a high resistance to aminoglycosides such as kanamycin, streptomycin and gentamicin. Likewise, previous studies have also reported high resistance to nalidixic acid. ⁽¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁶⁾ Ammor MS *et al* (2007), Coppola *et al* (2005) have reported that lactobacilli are usually sensitive to ampicillin and generally susceptible to antibiotics inhibiting the synthesis of proteins, such as chloramphenicol, erythromycin, clindamycin and tetracycline, and lactobacilli are usually resistant to most inhibitors of nucleic acid synthesis, including nalidixic acid.^(167, 168) Innate resistance of probiotics to some antibiotics suggests their use for the purpose of preventing and therapeutic in controlling of intestinal infections, especially when combined with the use of antibiotics in therapeutic.⁽¹⁶⁹⁾

Analysis of hemolysis is very important prerequisites for safety because many organisms are able to synthetic exotoxins that induce the partial or total lysis of human or animal cells.⁽¹⁷⁰⁾ As per safety concerns, a potential probiotic bacterium should not

cause lysis of red blood cells in the body. In this study, all the tree isolates were incapable of exhibiting hemolysis on the agar media containing 5% human blood. Which means selected lactic acid bacteria isolated do not exhibit pathogenicity and are safe for consumption. This is in agreement with other study reports of lactic acid bacteria confirming that they are non-hemolytic in nature.⁽¹⁷¹⁾ Likewise, Escamilla-Montes *et al* (2015) and Padmavathi *et al* (2018). No hemolysis activity was found in probiotics lactic acid bacteria.^(172, 173)

Antimicrobial activity against pathogens is another important feature that must be considered in selecting potential probiotic strains for maintaining a healthy microbial balance in gastrointestinal tract. In the study investigations, the antimicrobial activity of probiotics was tested against the pathogenic bacteria 12 strains. The result showed that isolates MN2 presented non-antimicrobial activity against pathogens observed from showed non-inhibit zone against all pathogens. However, isolate MN showed low inhibition against *Shigella dysenteria* and isolate SM showed low inhibition against *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and *Shigella dysenteria*. (Table13). Probiotic bacteria were different in beneficial properties beneficial effects to the host, they are strain specific. Based on the results of this study, all isolates presented no antimicrobial activity against pathogens property.

Similar study of Marie *et al* (2009). reported study antimicrobial activity of *L. paraplantarum* KNUC25 isolate from Kimchi found that *Lactobacillus paraplantarum* KNUC25 showed least antimicrobial activity against *Shigella dysenteria* and *Salmonella paratyphica* ATCC11511.⁽¹⁷⁴⁾

Previously, *Lactobacillus gasseri* has been reported antimicrobial to produce a number of bacitracins, with the most well-characterized being gassericin A from *Lactobacillus gasseri* LA39, which was isolated from infant feces.⁽¹⁷⁵⁾

In this study, 3 isolates of LAB were having the strongest bile salt hydrolase activity applied to determine the technological potential of lactic acid bacteria isolated

from Thai fermented foods in view of their application in the fermented milk product. Milk was inoculated with 3 probiotic strains of single culture and mixture culture at a ratio of 1;1;1 the initial concentration of bacteria was 10 ⁹ CFU/ml Incubated at 40°C until pH of milk reaches 4.6 . Quality parameters of fermented milk during storage at 5°C will be evaluated every 7 days for 28 days.

Present fermentation times (to reach pH 4.6) of probiotics for the prepared fermented milks (initial pH of milk was 6.74) (table14). In the study, fermented milks with MN, MN2, SM and Mixed culture used fermentation times (to reach pH 4.6) at 18, 19, 21 and 16 hr respectively. Fermented milk with mixture culture used the shortest fermentation time. Long fermentation times (21 hr) were observed in SM. Variance in fermentation time could be due to differences in the ability of lactic acid bacteria to grow and ferment milk.

Similar results were reported by Mani-López *et al* (2014).⁽¹⁷⁶⁾ Donkor *et al* (2007) Damin *et al* (2008) have also reported that probiotic bacteria have a poor acidification performance in milk compared with common yogurt starter cultures.^(177, 178)

Viability of probiotic in fermented milk product until the time of consumption is the most critical factor of these products. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA or USFDA) has also suggested that the minimum probiotic count in a probiotic food should be at least 10^{6} CFU/mL.⁽¹⁷⁴⁾ The numbers of probiotic lactic acid bacteria used in this study of the fermented milk during the experiment are shown in Table15. Figures22 present changes in Lactic acid bacteria counts during fermentation and storage of fermented milk. Inoculation was initial ~ 10^{9} CFU/ml end of the fermentation (at pH = 4.5) counts 24 hr after fermentation were 9.2, 9.3, 9.4 and 8.3 log CFU/mL for MN, MN2, SM and Mixture culture, respectively (Figure 22.). Fermented milk with MN, MN2, SM and Mixed culture decreased by log 1.28 1.33 1.13 and 1.42, respectively cycles after 28 days of storage the fermented milk with SM has the highest number of cells

count. After 28 days fermented milk with MN MN2 SM and Mixed culture observed that cell counts declined but counts were still $>10^6$ CFU/mL at the end of the storage.

The results of the present study suggested that fermented milk with Mixed culture may be inhibited by the presence of other species within a multi-species probiotic. It may be that these different species inhibit each other.⁽¹⁷⁹⁾ A loss of probiotic viability occurred during storage of the fermented milk, which could be related to acidity, the presence of oxygen in the media. When probiotic cells are in an environment with a low pH (<4.5), more energy is required to maintain the intracellular pH, resulting in the lack of ATP for other important functions and thus causing cell death. The continuous exposure to oxygen under acidic conditions during storage is the main cause of the reduction of probiotic cultures must maintain their viability and functionality during the product storage period.^(180, 181) From the standpoint of consumer's health benefits, the selected probiotic cultures must maintain their viability and functionality during the product storage period.⁽¹⁸²⁾ Counts above 10⁶ CFU/mL are considered values potentially functional for probiotics or populations of about 10⁷-10⁹ CFU in the daily portion of the products.^(177, 183) Thus, the fermented milk could be considered probiotic for 7, 14, 21 and 28 days.

In study of Gueimonde *et al.* (2004) 14 commercial fermented milks, reported counts from 10^7 to 10^9 CFU/mL after 30 days of storage .⁽¹⁸⁴⁾ Similar reports Mortazavian *et al* (2007) and Damin *et al.* (2008) observed a decrease around 2 log of *Lactobacilus acidophilus* in yogurt after 28 d of storage.^(178, 185) Overall, the viability of lactic acid bacteria depends on strain type, storage conditions, and culture mixture.⁽¹⁷⁶⁾

pH in fermented products during Storage. In this study, pH values of fermented milks decreased during storage 28 days. Over the total storage period, the most changes in pH were seen in fermented with MN, MN2, SM and Mixed culture, which it decreased from 4.6 in day 1 to 4, 4, 3.98 and 4.05, respectively in 28 days of during storage. Fermented milk that include isolate SM presented the highest acidity values in storage for 28 days. Fermented milk with SM presented the highest acidity values. Figure23 shows the tendency of fermented milk pH to decrease during storage.

Declining pH of fermented milk may be metabolic behavior of microorganisms due to the continuous production of acids by lactic acid bacteria present in these products.⁽¹⁸⁶⁾ Gueimonde *et al* (2004) analyzed 14 commercial fermented milks and observed pH values around 3.9 to 4.2. ⁽¹⁸⁶⁾Panesar and Shinde (2012) obtained pH of 4.03, 3.91 after 21days of strorage (5°C) in yogurts products fermented with *Streptococcus salivarius* subsp. thermophilus and *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp ⁽¹⁸⁷⁾ This results are similar to these reports, confirm the residual acidification during storage.

The low pH can be considered the main factors detrimental to the viability of probiotics in the stomach. The pH of the stomach mainly in the range of 2.5 to 3.5 but may be as low as pH 1.0 or pH 2.0 at higher gastric juice secretion rates.^(188, 199) Food normally remains in the stomach for 2–4 h The effect of acidic conditions on the viability of lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk is shown in Table 17-18. At pH3 fermented milk of all isolate 28 days of storage show significant decrease. On 1 to 28 days of storage fermented milk with MN, MN2, SM and Mixture culture decreased by log 0.79, 0.85, 1.17 and 0.95 respectively (Table 17). At pH2 fermented milk of all isolate not survive on 14, 21, and 28 days of storage (Table 18). At pH3, fermented milks of all isolates maintained cell count 10⁶ - 10⁷ on 28 days of storage, which maintained recommended levels at least 10⁶ CFU/mL. At pH2.0, fermented milks of all isolate maintained cell count 10⁶ on 14 days of storage. On 21 to 28 days of storage cell cannot survive. When compare pure culture at pH2 fermented milk of all isolates can survive on 4 days of storage but pure culture cannot survive.

Having passed through the acidic gastric environment, the probiotics are face surviving in the small intestinal environment, where they are exposed to bile salts. Bile tolerance 0.3 % and 0.8% of fermented milks with probiotic lactic acid bacteria 3h exposure was demonstrated in Table 19-20.

At ox gall 0.8% on 28 days of storage fermented milk with Mixture culture survive cell count is less than the recommended count 10^6 CFU/mL may be due to

inhibition of multi-species probiotic within fermented milks product. The survival rate of fermented milk of all isolates on 28 days storage trend tolerance in ox gall 0.3% and 0.8% can tolerance than pure culture. In this study probiotic strains proved to exhibit an excellent quality of bile tolerance. Another important factor is the bile salt hydrolase (BSH) activity which report for the bile salt resistance. Sahadeva *et al* (2011) reported *lactobacilus* strains with BSH hydrolyse conjugated bile, thus reducing its bactericidal effect.^(154, 190)

Overall, milk demonstrated influence on improving probiotic viability in the presence of bile and acid. Ranadheera et al (2012) reported that fat contents in yogurt and ice cream may have provided protection to probiotics by reducing their exposure to acid and bile.⁽¹⁹¹⁾ Recent studies have shown that some LAB in fermented fruit and vegetable are resistant to acid and bile, similar to the LAB found in animal sources, so these products can be used as a suitable carrier for probiotics. Differences in the storage temperatures and storage time may have caused variations in the acid tolerance of the probiotics^{.(192, 193)}

The existence of BSH activity probiotic lactic acid bacteria in fermented milk was demonstrated in Table 21. All fermented milk showed existence of maximum BSH activity in fermented milk during storage 28 days. On 28 days of storage fermented milk with Mixture culture presented the least existence of BSH activity. Due to fermented milk with Mixture culture the count of viable cells decreases causing a decrease in BSH production.

Lactobacilli is often used in human consumption products and can be found in probiotics in baby food, milk, and many types of pharmaceutical preparations. Bile salt hydrolase enzymes of many species of LAB species play an important role in the metabolism of the hosts. Over the past decades, probiotics bacteria with BSH activity were used to alleviate cholesterol levels in humans and animals. Fermented milk with probiotic have bile salt hydrolase activity may be an alternative way to reduce cholesterol. ⁽¹⁹⁴⁾ In the present study, in view of their application in milk product. It was found that probiotic isolate could maintain BSH activity in fermented milk products.

Similar study of Champagne *et al* (2016) reported that when adding Lactobacillus with BSH activity to the fermented product found that could producing BSH activity in fermented products.⁽¹⁹⁵⁾ Changlu *et al* (2019) reported that Lactobacillus *plantarum* CAAS showed the greater BSH activity causing a significant decrease in the serum cholesterol levels in hamsters.⁽¹⁹⁶⁾

Lactobacillus parapalntarum, Lactobacillus plantarum and Lactobacillus gasseri showed the greater BSH activity in this study, which suggests that this strain was able to hydrolyze conjugated bile salts to release amino acids and free bile acids. The free bile acids are less soluble and less efficiently reabsorbed from the intestinal lumen than their bile conjugated forms which clause increase fecal bile acid excretion levels. To replace the lost bile acids, more new bile acids would be synthesized from cholesterol in the hepatic witch results decrease in the serum cholesterol levels in blood.^(25, 197) In addition, the greater of bile salt hydrolase ability also promoted survival of probiotic in the gastrointestinal tract observed from result viability of probiotics in acid and bile (Table17 -19).

Fermented milk product is organised as a concentrated dispersion of protein particles, aggregates and clusters⁽¹⁹⁸⁾. Texture is an important attribute of fermented milk product quality.

Fermented milk gel structure is the result of casein aggregation by pH reduction and denatured whey proteins. In the study, the firmness values of fermented milk with probiotic during 28 days storage presented in Table22. All fermented milk firmness significantly increased during cold storage. Fermented milk with Mixture culture exhibited the highest values of firmness. A higher firmness of fermented milk has also been related to a longer fermentation time.⁽¹⁷⁸⁾ In this study, fermented milk with long fermentation time may displayed greater firmness. The increase in firmness during storage could be related to further pH reduction, which may cause the structure of the

gel to shrink, with a consequent elevation of gel strength.⁽¹⁹⁹⁾ Similar study of Sah *et al* 2016. report that yogurt with probiotic exhibited the highest values of firmness during storage 28 days⁽²⁰⁰⁾

Rheology properties of foods is the study of the deformation and flow of food materials. Rheological of the fermented milk depend on its microstructure and physicochemical interactions between the structure element casein micelles. In this study, storage modulus (G'), which determined solid-like property of materials, significantly increased at higher frequencies of fermented milk with MN, MN2, SM and Mixed culture. Fermented milk with Mixture culture have the highest G' compared with fermented milk with MN MN2 and SM.

Syneresis is the separation of the liquid phase from the curd. In fermented milk syneresis is undesirable. The loss of whey is a measure of the level of the gel that is collapsed and is an indicator of poor quality and stability. In this study, syneresis is the separation of the liquid phase from the gel. In fermented milk syneresis is undesirable. There was a significant reduction in syneresis during the 28 days of refrigerated storage (figure44) Fermented milks with MN and Mixed culture exhibited significant increases in % syneresis on day 7 and fermented milks with MN2 and SM significant increases in % syneresis on day 14. The lowest and highest syneresis values were fermented milk with Mixed culture and fermented milk with SM, respectively. A significant (p < 0.05) increase in syneresis was observed during cold storage, which was more pronounced in fermented with SM.

Lowering of pH during storage likely resulted in contraction of the casein network and consequently greater whey expulsion was similar to that reported by Amatayakul *et al* (2006) report that fond syneresis 9-14% of yoghurt during 28 days of storage. ^(198, 201)

CONCLUSIONS

In the present study, 55 LAB isolates were isolated from fermented foods and only three isolates were selected on the basis of their strongest bile salt hydrolase activity namely MN, MN2 and SM. These 3 isolates were identified using 16S ribosomal DNA sequence analysis similar as *Lactobacillus paraplantarum*, *Lactobacillus plantarum* and *Lactobacillus gasserri*.

Three strains exhibited good resistance to gastrointestinal condition (pH, 3; bile salt, 0.3% and 0.8%). For cell surface hydrophobicity, MN, MN2 and SM show moderate hydrophobicity. Three isolates showed resistance to nalidixic acid and streptomycin. Also, maximum susceptibility of all isolates was observed against chloramphenicol, tetracycline, ampicillin and gentamicin. All the three isolates were incapable of exhibiting hemolysis

In view of their application in milk product it was found that *Lactobacillus paraplantarum*, *Lactobacillus plantarum* and *Lactobacillus gasserri* could maintain BSH activity in fermented milk products. Therefore, with the properties of good probiotics these strains could be potentially used in functional food and health products especially where cholesterol reduction by bile salt hydrolase in food is the main target. Further *in vivo* study is necessary to prove the hypercholesterolemic effect of the *Lactobacillus paraplantarum*, *Lactobacillus plantarum* and *Lactobacillus gasserri* by producing bile salt hydrolase.
REFERENCES

 Fredua-Agyeman M, Stapleton P, Basit AW, Gaisford S. Microcalorimetric evaluation of a multi-strain probiotic: Interspecies inhibition between probiotic strains. J Funct Foods. 2017;36:357-61.

2. Fujiya M, Ueno N, Kohgo Y. Probiotic treatments for induction and maintenance of remission in inflammatory bowel diseases: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Clin J Gastroenterol. 2014;7(1):1-13.

3. Joint F. WHO working group report on drafting guidelines for the evaluation of probiotics in food. London, Ontario, Canada. 2002;30.

4. Schlee M, Harder J, Köten B, Stange E, Wehkamp J, Fellermann K. Probiotic lactobacilli and VSL# 3 induce enterocyte β -defensin 2. Clin Exp Immunol. 2008;151(3):528-35.

5. Salminen S, Von Wright A. Lactic acid bacteria: microbiological and functional aspects: CRC Press; 2004.

6. Ley RE, Peterson DA, Gordon JI. Ecological and evolutionary forces shaping microbial diversity in the human intestine. Cell. 2006;124(4):837-48.

 Cénit M, Matzaraki V, Tigchelaar E, Zhernakova A. Rapidly expanding knowledge on the role of the gut microbiome in health and disease. Biochim Biophys Acta.
 2014;1842(10):1981-92.

Mouzaki M, Comelli EM, Arendt BM, Bonengel J, Fung SK, Fischer SE, et al.
 Intestinal microbiota in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology.
 2013;58(1):120-7.

O'Hara AM, Shanahan F. The gut flora as a forgotten organ. EMBO Rep.
 2006;7(7):688-93.

10. Oli M, Otoo H, Crowley P, Heim K, Nascimento M, Ramsook C, et al. Functional amyloid formation by *Streptococcus mutans*. Microbiology. 2012;158(12):2903-16.

11. Tang WW, Hazen SL. The contributory role of gut microbiota in cardiovascular disease. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(10):4204-11.

12. Santisteban MM, Qi Y, Zubcevic J, Kim S, Yang T, Shenoy V, et al. Hypertension-Linked Pathophysiological Alterations in the GutNovelty and Significance. Circ Res 2017;120(2):312-23.

13. Azad M, Kalam A, Sarker M, Li T, Yin J. Probiotic Species in the Modulation of Gut Microbiota: An Overview. Biomed Res Int. 2018;2018.

 Wilhelm SM, Brubaker CM, Varcak EA, Kale-Pradhan PB. Effectiveness of probiotics in the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. Pharmacotherapy. 2008;28(4):496-505.

15. Murray MT. What the Drug Companies Won't Tell You and Your Doctor Doesn't Know: The Alternative Treatments that May Change Your Life--and the Prescriptions that Could Harm You: Simon and Schuster; 2009.

16. Oggioni C, Cena H, Wells J, Soroka K, Lara J, Morales CC, et al. Worldwide dietary and lifestyle factors associated with diabetes prevalence and total cholesterol levels: an ecological analysis. Proc Nutr Soc. 2015;74(OCE1).

Sabatine MS, Giugliano RP, Keech AC, Honarpour N, Wiviott SD, Murphy SA, et al.
Evolocumab and clinical outcomes in patients with cardiovascular disease. NEJM.
2017;376(18):1713-22.

Stone NJ, Robinson JG, Lichtenstein AH, Merz CNB, Blum CB, Eckel RH, et al.
 2013 ACC/AHA guideline on the treatment of blood cholesterol to reduce atherosclerotic cardiovascular risk in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. JACC. 2014;63(25 Part B):2889-934.

19. Hu FB, Manson JE, Willett WC. Types of dietary fat and risk of coronary heart disease: a critical review. JACN. 2001;20(1):5-19.

20. Bhange P, Sridevi N, Bhange DS, Prabhune A, Ramaswamy V. Immobilization of bile salt hydrolase enzyme on mesoporous SBA-15 for co-precipitation of cholesterol. Int J Biol Macromol. 2014;63:218-24.

21. Begley M, Gahan CG, Hill C. The interaction between bacteria and bile. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2005;29(4):625-51.

22. Degirolamo C, Rainaldi S, Bovenga F, Murzilli S, Moschetta A. Microbiota

modification with probiotics induces hepatic bile acid synthesis via downregulation of the Fxr-Fgf15 axis in mice. Cell Rep. 2014;7(1):12-8.

Martoni CJ, Labbé A, Ganopolsky JG, Prakash S, Jones ML. Changes in bile acids,
 FGF-19 and sterol absorption in response to bile salt hydrolase active *L. reuteri* NCIMB
 30242. Gut microbes. 2015;6(1):57-65.

24. Patel AK, Singhania RR, Pandey A, Chincholkar SB. Probiotic bile salt hydrolase: current developments and perspectives. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2010;162(1):166-80.

25. Ridlon JM, Kang D-J, Hylemon PB. Bile salt biotransformations by human intestinal bacteria. J Lipid Res. 2006;47(2):241-59.

26. Fang F, Li Y, Bumann M, Raftis EJ, Casey PG, Cooney JC, et al. Allelic variation of bile salt hydrolase genes in *Lactobacillus salivarius* does not determine bile resistance levels. J Bacteriol. 2009;191(18):5743-57.

 Nguyen T, Kang J, Lee M. Characterization of Lactobacillus plantarum PH04, a potential probiotic bacterium with cholesterol-lowering effects. Int J Food Microbiol. 2007;113(3):358-61.

28. Ahn YT, Kim GB, Lim KS, Baek YJ, Kim HU. Deconjugation of bile salts by *Lactobacillus acidophilus* isolates. Int Dairy J. 2003;13(4):303-11.

29. Miremadi F, Ayyash M, Sherkat F, Stojanovska L. Cholesterol reduction mechanisms and fatty acid composition of cellular membranes of probiotic *Lactobacilli* and *Bifidobacteria*. J Funct Foods. 2014;9:295-305.

30. de Sousa VMC, dos Santos EF, Sgarbieri VC. The importance of prebiotics in functional foods and clinical practice. Food Nutr Sci. 2011;2(02):133.

31. Lobo V, Patil A, Phatak A, Chandra N. Free radicals, antioxidants and functional foods: Impact on human health. Pharmacogn Rev. 2010;4(8):118.

32. Sharma P, Tomar SK, Goswami P, Sangwan V, Singh R. Antibiotic resistance among commercially available probiotics. Food Res Int. 2014;57:176-95.

Arvanitoyannis IS, Van Houwelingen-Koukaliaroglou M. Functional foods: a survey of health claims, pros and cons, and current legislation. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.
 2005;45(5):385-404.

34. Astashkina AP, Khudyakova L, Kolbysheva YV. Microbiological quality control of probiotic products. Procedia Chem. 2014;10:74-9.

35. Özer BH, Kirmaci HA. Functional milks and dairy beverages. Int J Dairy Technol.2010;63(1):1-15.

36. Sharma S, Joshi V, Sharma S. Probiotics: concepts and applications in food. Food Biotechnol. 2012:781-98.

37. Figueroa-González I, Quijano G, Ramírez G, Cruz-Guerrero A. Probiotics and prebiotics—perspectives and challenges. J Sci Food Agric. 2011;91(8):1341-8.

38. Pandey KR, Naik SR, Vakil BV. Probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics-a review. J Food Sci Technol. 2015;52(12):7577-87.

39. Toma MM, Pokrotnieks J. Probiotics as functional food: microbiological and medical aspects. Nutr Clin Pract. 2006;710:117-29.

40. Ohashi Y, Ushida K. Health-beneficial effects of probiotics: Its mode of action. Anim Sci J. 2009;80(4):361-71.

41. Anandharaj M, Sivasankari B, Parveen Rani R. Effects of probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics on hypercholesterolemia: a review. Chinese Journal of Biology. 2014;2014.

42. Fontana L, Bermudez-Brito M, Plaza-Diaz J, Munoz-Quezada S, Gil A. Sources, isolation, characterisation and evaluation of probiotics. Br J Nutr. 2013;109(S2):S35-S50.

43. Ahmed Z, Wang Y, Anjum N, Ahmad H, Ahmad A, Raza M. Characterization of new exopolysaccharides produced by coculturing of *L. kefiranofaciens* with yoghurt strains. Int J Biol Macromol. 2013;59:377-83.

44. Lorca GL, Wadström T, De Valdez GF, Ljungh Å. *Lactobacillus acidophilus* autolysins inhibit *Helicobacter pylori* in vitro. Curr Microbiol. 2001;42(1):39-44.

45. Michetti P, Dorta G, Wiesel P, Brassart D, Verdu E, Herranz M, et al. Effect of wheybased culture supernatant of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* (johnsonii) La1 on *Helicobacter pylori* infection in humans. Digestion. 1999;60(3):203-9.

46. Lilly DM, Stillwell RH. Probiotics: growth-promoting factors produced by microorganisms. Science. 1965;147(3659):747-8.

47. Haukioja A. Probiotics and oral health. Eur J Dent. 2010;4(3):348.

48. Guandalini S. Probiotics for prevention and treatment of diarrhea. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2011;45:S149-S53.

49. Tulumoglu S, Yuksekdag ZN, Beyatli Y, Simsek O, Cinar B, Ya**Ş**ar E. Probiotic
properties of lactobacilli species isolated from children's feces. Anaerobe. 2013;24:36-42.
50. Foligne B, Nutten S, Grangette C, Dennin V, Goudercourt D, Poiret S, et al.

Correlation between in vitro and in vivo immunomodulatory properties of lactic acid bacteria. World J Gastroenterol. 2007;13(2):236.

51. De Keersmaecker SC, Verhoeven TL, Desair J, Marchal K, Vanderleyden J, Nagy I. Strong antimicrobial activity of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG against *Salmonella typhimurium* is due to accumulation of lactic acid. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2006;259(1):89-96.

52. Bhardwaj A, Gupta H, Kapila S, Kaur G, Vij S, Malik RK. Safety assessment and evaluation of probiotic potential of bacteriocinogenic *Enterococcus faecium* KH 24 strain under *in vitro* and *in vivo* conditions. Int J Food Microbiol. 2010;141(3):156-64.

53. Song M, Yun B, Moon J-H, Park D-J, Lim K, Oh S. Characterization of selected *Lactobacillus* strains for use as probiotics. Korean J Food Sci Anim Resour. 2015;35(4):551.

54. Nagpal R, Kumar A, Kumar M, Behare PV, Jain S, Yadav H. Probiotics, their health benefits and applications for developing healthier foods: a review. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2012;334(1):1-15.

55. Szajewska H, Wanke M, Patro B. Meta-analysis: the effects of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG supplementation for the prevention of healthcare-associated diarrhoea in children. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;34(9):1079-87.

56. Bolton M, Van Der Straten A, Cohen CR. Probiotics: potential to prevent HIV and sexually transmitted infections in women. Sex Transm Dis. 2008;35(3):214-25.

57. Nam H, Ha M, Bae O, Lee Y. Effect of Weissella confusa strain PL9001 on the adherence and growth of Helicobacter pylori. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2002;68(9):4642-5.

58. Kosin B, Rakshit SK. Microbial and processing criteria for production of probiotics: a review. Food Technol Biotechnol. 2006;44(3):371-9.

59. Fabian E, Elmadfa I. Influence of daily consumption of probiotic and conventional

yoghurt on the plasma lipid profile in young healthy women. Ann Nutr Metab.

2006;50(4):387-93.

60. Douillard FP, De Vos WM, editors. Functional genomics of lactic acid bacteria: from food to health. Microb Cell Fact; 2014: BMC.

61. Desai A. Strain identification, viability and probiotics properties of Lactobacillus casei: Victoria University; 2008.

62. Cho SS, Finocchiaro T. Handbook of prebiotics and probiotics ingredients: health benefits and food applications: CRC Press; 2009.

63. Favaro L, Basaglia M, Casella S, Hue I, Dousset X, de Melo Franco BDG, et al. Bacteriocinogenic potential and safety evaluation of non-starter Enterococcus faecium strains isolated from home made white brine cheese. Food Microbiol. 2014;38:228-39.

64. Palomino JM, del Árbol JT, Benomar N, Abriouel H, Cañamero MM, Gálvez A, et al. Application of *Lactobacillus plantarum* Lb9 as starter culture in caper berry fermentation. LWT-Food Science and Technology. 2015;60(2):788-94.

65. Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. PLoS Biol. 2016;14(8):e1002533.

66. de Almada CN, De Almada CN, Martinez RCR, de Souza Sant'Ana A.

Characterization of the intestinal microbiota and its interaction with probiotics and health impacts. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2015;99(10):4175-99.

67. Dollé L, Tran HQ, Etienne-Mesmin L, Chassaing B. Policing of gut microbiota by the adaptive immune system. BMC Med. 2016;14(1):27.

Schloss PD, Handelsman J. Status of the microbial census. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev.
 2004;68(4):686-91.

69. Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Bernstein CN, Purdom E, Dethlefsen L, Sargent M, et al. Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. science. 2005;308(5728):1635-8.

Neish AS. Microbes in gastrointestinal health and disease. Gastroenterology.
 2009;136(1):65-80.

71. Ottman N, Reunanen J, Meijerink M, Pietilä TE, Kainulainen V, Klievink J, et al. Pililike proteins of *Akkermansia muciniphila* modulate host immune responses and gut barrier function. PLoS One. 2017;12(3):e0173004.

72. Schwiertz A, Taras D, Schäfer K, Beijer S, Bos NA, Donus C, et al. Microbiota and SCFA in lean and overweight healthy subjects. Obesity. 2010;18(1):190-5.

73. Dewulf EM, Cani PD, Neyrinck AM, Possemiers S, Van Holle A, Muccioli GG, et al. Inulin-type fructans with prebiotic properties counteract GPR43 overexpression and PPARγ-related adipogenesis in the white adipose tissue of high-fat diet-fed mice. J Nutr Biochem. 2011;22(8):712-22.

Clarke SF, Murphy EF, O'sullivan O, Lucey AJ, Humphreys M, Hogan A, et al.
Exercise and associated dietary extremes impact on gut microbial diversity. Gut.
2014:gutjnl-2013-306541.

75. Barlow GM, Yu A, Mathur R. Role of the gut microbiome in obesity and diabetes mellitus. Nutr Clin Pract. 2015;30(6):787-97.

76. Ley RE, Bäckhed F, Turnbaugh P, Lozupone CA, Knight RD, Gordon JI. Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(31):11070-5.

77. Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, Gordon JI. Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. nature. 2006;444(7122):1022.

78. Khani S, M Hosseini H, Taheri M, R Nourani M, A Imani Fooladi A. Probiotics as an alternative strategy for prevention and treatment of human diseases: a review. Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets 2012;11(2):79-89.

79. Dietschy JM, Turley SD. Thematic review series: brain Lipids. Cholesterol metabolism in the central nervous system during early development and in the mature animal. J Lipid Res. 2004;45(8):1375-97.

80. Ohvo-Rekilä H, Ramstedt B, Leppimäki P, Slotte JP. Cholesterol interactions with phospholipids in membranes. Prog Lipid Res. 2002;41(1):66-97.

81. Cox RA, García-Palmieri MR. Cholesterol, triglycerides, and associated lipoproteins. 1990.

82. Vance JE, Vance DE. Biochemistry of lipids, lipoproteins and membranes: Elsevier;2008.

83. Feingold KR, Grunfeld C. Lipids: a key player in the battle between the host and

microorganisms. J Lipid Res. 2012;53(12):2487-9.

84. Hegele RA. Monogenic dyslipidemias: window on determinants of plasma lipoprotein metabolism. Am J Hum Genet. 2001;69(6):1161-77.

85. Hodis HN, Mack WJ, Krauss RM, Alaupovic P. Pathophysiology of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in atherothrombosis: Clinical aspects. Clin Cardiol. 1999;22(S2):II-15-II-20.

86. Lehrke M, Millington SC, Lefterova M, Cumaranatunge RG, Szapary P, Wilensky R, et al. CXCL16 is a marker of inflammation, atherosclerosis, and acute coronary syndromes in humans. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;49(4):442-9.

87. Jones ML, Tomaro-Duchesneau C, Martoni CJ, Prakash S. Cholesterol lowering
with bile salt hydrolase-active probiotic bacteria, mechanism of action, clinical evidence,
and future direction for heart health applications. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2013;13(5):631-42.
88. Chiang JY. Bile acid metabolism and signaling. Compr Physiol. 2013;3(3):1191-

212.

89. Lindquist S, Hernell O. Lipid digestion and absorption in early life: an update. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2010;13(3):314-20.

90. Gielen S, Landmesser U. The Year in Cardiology 2013: cardiovascular disease prevention. Eur Heart J. 2014;35(5):307-12.

91. Xie N, Cui Y, Yin Y-N, Zhao X, Yang J-W, Wang Z-G, et al. Effects of two *Lactobacillus* strains on lipid metabolism and intestinal microflora in rats fed a high-cholesterol diet. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2011;11(1):53.

92. Kumar M, Nagpal R, Kumar R, Hemalatha R, Verma V, Kumar A, et al. Cholesterollowering probiotics as potential biotherapeutics for metabolic diseases. Exp Diabetes Res. 2012;2012.

93. Mercenier A, Pavan S, Pot B. Probiotics as biotherapeutic agents: present knowledge and future prospects. Curr Pharm Des. 2003;9(2):175-91.

94. Moser SA, Savage DC. Bile salt hydrolase activity and resistance to toxicity of conjugated bile salts are unrelated properties in lactobacilli. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2001;67(8):3476-80.

95. Suresh C, Pundle A, SivaRaman H, Rao K, Brannigan J, McVey C, et al. Penicillin V

acylase crystal structure reveals new Ntn-hydrolase family members. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 1999;6(5):414.

96. Dambekodi P, Gilliland S. Incorporation of Cholesterol into the Cellular Membrane of *Bifidobacterium longum*1. J Dairy Sci. 1998;81(7):1818-24.

97. Talayero BG, Sacks FM. The role of triglycerides in atherosclerosis. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2011;13(6):544.

98. Rani RP, Anandharaj M, Ravindran AD. Characterization of bile salt hydrolase from *Lactobacillus gasseri* FR4 and demonstration of its substrate specificity and inhibitory mechanism using molecular docking analysis. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:1004.

99. Kim S-J, Park SH, Sin H-S, Jang S-H, Lee S-W, Kim S-Y, et al. Hypocholesterolemic effects of probiotic mixture on diet-induced hypercholesterolemic rats. Nutrients.
2017;9(3):293.

100. Kołożyn-Krajewska D, Dolatowski ZJ. Probiotic meat products and human nutrition. Process Biochem. 2012;47(12):1761-72.

101. Holzapfel WH, Haberer P, Geisen R, Björkroth J, Schillinger U. Taxonomy and important features of probiotic microorganisms in food and nutrition–. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;73(2):365s-73s.

102. Mohammadi R, Mortazavian AM, Khosrokhavar R, da Cruz AG. Probiotic ice cream: viability of probiotic bacteria and sensory properties. Ann Microbiol. 2011;61(3):411-24.

103. Vasudha S, Mishra H. Non dairy probiotic beverages. Int Food Res J. 2013;20(1).

104. Herich R LM. Lactic acid bacteria, Probiotics and Immune system. Vet Med.2002:169–80.

105. Zhang H, Sun J, Liu X, Hong C, Zhu Y, Liu A, et al. *Lactobacillus paracasei* subsp. paracasei LC01 positively modulates intestinal microflora in healthy young adults. J Microbiol. 2013;51(6):777-82.

106. Brown AC, Shovic A, Ibrahim S, Holck P, Huang A. A non-dairy probiotic's (poi) influence on changing the gastrointestinal tract's microflora environment. Altern Ther Health Med. 2005;11(1):58.

107. Shah NP. Functional cultures and health benefits. Int Dairy J. 2007;17(11):1262-77.
108. Martinez-Villaluenga C, Frias J, Gómez R, Vidal-Valverde C. Influence of addition of raffinose family oligosaccharides on probiotic survival in fermented milk during refrigerated storage. Int Dairy J. 2006;16(7):768-74.

109. Morelli L. Yogurt, living cultures, and gut health. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;99(5):1248S-50S.

110. Silanikove N, Leitner G, Merin U. The interrelationships between lactose intolerance and the modern dairy industry: global perspectives in evolutional and historical backgrounds. Nutrients. 2015;7(9):7312-31.

111. de Vrese M, Stegelmann A, Richter B, Fenselau S, Laue C, Schrezenmeir J.Probiotics—compensation for lactase insufficiency–. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;73(2):421s-9s.

112. Guillemard E, Tondu F, Lacoin F, Schrezenmeir J. Consumption of a fermented dairy product containing the probiotic *Lactobacillus casei* DN-114 001 reduces the duration of respiratory infections in the elderly in a randomised controlled trial. Br J Nutr. 2010;103(1):58-68.

113. Hill C, Guarner F, Reid G, Gibson GR, Merenstein DJ, Pot B, et al. Expert consensus document: The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;11(8):506.

114. Sharma M, Devi M. Probiotics: a comprehensive approach toward health foods.Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2014;54(4):537-52.

115. Mitropoulou G, Nedovic V, Goyal A, Kourkoutas Y. Immobilization technologies in probiotic food production. J Nutr Metab. 2013;2013.

116. Gupta S, Abu-Ghannam N. Probiotic fermentation of plant based products: possibilities and opportunities. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2012;52(2):183-99.

117. Korbekandi H, Mortazavian A, Iravani S. Technology and stability of probiotic in fermented milks. J Food Sci Technol. 2011:131-69.

118. Mortazavian AM, Mohammadi R, Sohrabvandi S. Delivery of probiotic microorganisms into gastrointestinal tract by food products. New advances in the basic

and clinical gastroenterology: IntechOpen; 2012.

Favaro-Trindade CS, Bernardi S, Bodini RB, De Carvalho Balieiro JC, De Almeida
 Sensory acceptability and stability of probiotic microorganisms and vitamin C in
 fermented acerola (Malpighia emarginata DC.) ice cream. J Food Sci. 2006;71(6):S492-S5.
 Desmond C, Ross R, O'callaghan E, Fitzgerald G, Stanton C. Improved survival of
 Lactobacillus paracasei NFBC 338 in spray-dried powders containing gum acacia. J Appl
 Microbiol. 2002;93(6):1003-11.

121. Lee YK, Salminen S. Handbook of probiotics and prebiotics: John Wiley & Sons;2009.

122. Da Cruz AG, Faria JdAF, Saad SMI, Bolini HMA, Sant AS, Cristianini M. High pressure processing and pulsed electric fields: potential use in probiotic dairy foods processing. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2010;21(10):483-93.

123. Mortazavian A, Khosrokhavar R, Rastegar H, Mortazaei G. Effects of dry matter standardization order on biochemical and microbiological characteristics of freshly made probiotic Doogh (Iranian fermented milk drink). Ital J Food Sci. 2010;22(1).

124. Meidong R, Doolgindachbaporn S, Sakai K, Tongpim S. Isolation and selection of lactic acid bacteria from Thai indigenous fermented foods for use as probiotics in tilapia fish Oreochromis niloticus. Aquac Aquar Conserv Legis. 2017;10(2):455-63.

125. Mamhoud A, Nionelli L, Bouzaine T, Hamdi M, Gobbetti M, Rizzello CG. Selection of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Tunisian cereals and exploitation of the use as starters for sourdough fermentation. Int J Food Microbiol. 2016;225:9-19.

126. Shehata M, El Sohaimy S, El-Sahn MA, Youssef M. Screening of isolated potential probiotic lactic acid bacteria for cholesterol lowering property and bile salt hydrolase activity. J Agric Sci. 2016;61(1):65-75.

127. Guo CF, Zhang LW, Li JY, Zhang YC, Xue CH, Yi HX, et al., editors. Screening of bile salt hydrolase-active lactic acid bacteria for potential cholesterol-lowering probiotic use. Adv Mat Res; 2012: Trans Tech Publ.

128. Tsai C-C, Lin P-P, Hsieh Y-M, Zhang Z-y, Wu H-C, Huang C-C. Cholesterollowering potentials of lactic acid bacteria based on bile-salt hydrolase activity and effect of potent strains on cholesterol metabolism in vitro and in vivo. Sci World J. 2014.

129. Tamura K, Stecher G, Peterson D, Filipski A, Kumar S. MEGA6: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. Mol Biol Evol. 2013;30(12):2725-9.

130. Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schäffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, et al. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Res. 1997;25(17):3389-402.

131. Chang C-K, Wang S-C, Chiu C-K, Chen S-Y, Chen Z-T, Duh P-D. Effect of lactic acid bacteria isolated from fermented mustard on immunopotentiating activity. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed. 2015;5(4):281-6.

132. Kadam T, Rupa L, Balhal D, Totewad N, Gyananath G. Determination of the degree of hydrophobicity–A technique to assess bacterial colonization on leaf surface and root region of lotus plant. Asian J Exp Sci. 2009;23(1):135-39.

133. Carrillo P, Mardaraz C, Pitta-Alvarez S, Giulietti A. Isolation and selection of biosurfactant-producing bacteria. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. 1996;12(1):82-4.

134. Ferraro MJ. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing: NCCLS;2001.

135. Anas M, Zinedine BA, Rizk HA, Eddine HJ, Mebrouk K. Screening of autochthonous *Lactobacillus* species from Algerian raw goats' milk for the production of bacteriocin-like compounds against *Staphylococcus aureus*. Afr J Biotechnol. 2012;11(20):4595-607.

136. Vivar-Quintana A, De La Mano EB, Revilla I. Relationship between somatic cell counts and the properties of yoghurt made from ewes' milk. Int Dairy J. 2006;16(3):262-7.

137. Ramírez-Santiago C, Lobato-Calleros C, Espinosa-Andrews H, Vernon-Carter EJ. Viscoelastic properties and overall sensory acceptability of reduced-fat Petit-Suisse cheese made by replacing milk fat with complex coacervate. Dairy Sci Technol. 2012;92(4):383-98.

138. Kumar M, Kumar A, Nagpal R, Mohania D, Behare P, Verma V, et al. Cancer-preventing attributes of probiotics: an update. Int J Food Sci Nutr 2010;61(5):473-96.
139. Nagpal R, Behare P, Kumar M, Mohania D, Yadav M, Jain S, et al. Milk, milk

products, and disease free health: an updated overview. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2012;52(4):321-33.

140. Kumar R, Grover S, Batish VK. Bile salt hydrolase (Bsh) activity screening of lactobacilli: in vitro selection of indigenous *Lactobacillus* strains with potential bile salt hydrolysing and cholesterol-lowering ability. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins. 2012;4(3):162-72.

141. Ru X, Zhang C-C, Yuan Y-H, Yue T-L, Guo C-F. Bile salt hydrolase activity is present in nonintestinal lactic acid bacteria at an intermediate level. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2019;103(2):893-902.

142. Liong M, Shah N. Bile salt deconjugation ability, bile salt hydrolase activity and cholesterol co-precipitation ability of lactobacilli strains. Int Dairy J. 2005;15(4):391-8.

143. Kimoto H, Ohmomo S, Okamoto T. Cholesterol removal from media by lactococci.J Dairy Sci. 2002;85(12):3182-8.

144. Elkins CA, Moser SA, Savage DC. Genes encoding bile salt hydrolases and conjugated bile salt transporters in *Lactobacillus johnsonii* 100-100 and other Lactobacillus species. Microbiology. 2001;147(12):3403-12.

145. Dong Z, Zhang J, Lee B, Li H, Du G, Chen J. A bile salt hydrolase gene of *Lactobacillus plantarum* BBE7 with high cholesterol-removing activity. Eur Food Res Technol. 2012;235(3):419-27.

Ha C-G, Cho J-K, Lee C-H, Chai Y-G, Ha Y, Shin S-H. Cholesterol lowering effect of *Lactobacillus plantarum* isolated from human feces. J Microbiol Biotechnol.
2006;16(8):1201-9.

147. Ooi L-G, Bhat R, Rosma A, Yuen K-H, Liong M-T. A synbiotic containing *Lactobacillus acidophilus* CHO-220 and inulin improves irregularity of red blood cells. J Dairy Sci. 2010;93(10):4535-44.

148. Wang C-Y, Lin P-R, Ng C-C, Shyu Y-T. Probiotic properties of *Lactobacillus* strains isolated from the feces of breast-fed infants and Taiwanese pickled cabbage. Anaerobe. 2010;16(6):578-85.

149. Goh YJ, Klaenhammer TR. Functional roles of aggregation-promoting-like factor in

stress tolerance and adherence of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* NCFM. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2010;76(15):5005-12.

150. Corcoran B, Stanton C, Fitzgerald G, Ross R. Survival of probiotic lactobacilli in acidic environments is enhanced in the presence of metabolizable sugars. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2005;71(6):3060-7.

151. Gómez Zavaglia A, Kociubinski G, Pérez P, Disalvo E, De Antoni G. Effect of bile on the lipid composition and surface properties of bifidobacteria. J Appl Microbiol. 2002;93(5):794-9.

152. Sultana K, Godward G, Reynolds N, Arumugaswamy R, Peiris P, Kailasapathy K. Encapsulation of probiotic bacteria with alginate–starch and evaluation of survival in simulated gastrointestinal conditions and in yoghurt. Int J Food Microbiol. 2000;62(1-2):47-55.

153. Chan ES, Zhang Z. Bioencapsulation by compression coating of probiotic bacteria for their protection in an acidic medium. Process Biochem. 2005;40(10):3346-51.

154. Sahadeva R, Leong S, Chua K, Tan C, Chan H, Tong E, et al. Survival of commercial probiotic strains to pH and bile. INT FOOD RES J. 2011;18(4).

155. Mandal S, Puniya A, Singh K. Effect of alginate concentrations on survival of microencapsulated Lactobacillus casei NCDC-298. International Dairy Journal. 2006;16(10):1190-5.

156. Noriega L, Cuevas I, Margolles A, Clara G. Deconjugation and bile salts hydrolase activity by Bifidobacterium strains with acquired resistance to bile. INT DAIRY J. 2006;16(8):850-5.

157. Pisano MB, Casula M, Corda A, Fadda ME, Deplano M, Cosentino S. In vitro probiotic characteristics of *Lactobacillus* strains isolated from fiore sardo cheese. IJFS. 2008;20(4).

158. Pan W-H, Li P-L, Liu Z. The correlation between surface hydrophobicity and adherence of Bifidobacterium strains from centenarians' faeces. Anaerobe.
2006;12(3):148-52.

159. Rinkinen M, Westermarck E, Salminen S, Ouwehand AC. Absence of host

specificity for in vitro adhesion of probiotic lactic acid bacteria to intestinal mucus. Vet Microbiol. 2003;97(1-2):55-61.

160. Wu Q, Shah NP. Effects of elaidic acid, a predominant industrial trans fatty acid, on bacterial growth and cell surface hydrophobicity of lactobacilli. J Food Sci. 2014;79(12):M2485-M90.

161. Yadav R, Puniya AK, Shukla P. Probiotic properties of *Lactobacillus plantarum* RYPR1 from an indigenous fermented beverage Raabadi. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:1683.

162. von Wintersdorff CJ, Penders J, van Niekerk JM, Mills ND, Majumder S, van Alphen LB, et al. Dissemination of antimicrobial resistance in microbial ecosystems through horizontal gene transfer. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:173.

Morelli L, Wright A. Probiotic bacteria and transferable antibiotic resistance-safety aspects. Demonstration of the Nutritional Functionality of Probiotic Foods News Letter.
1997;2:9-14.

164. Kirtzalidou E, Pramateftaki P, Kotsou M, Kyriacou A. Screening for lactobacilli with probiotic properties in the infant gut microbiota. Anaerobe. 2011;17(6):440-3.

165. Fukao M, Yajima N. Antibiotic resistant bacteria–a continuous challenge in the new millennium. Assessment of antibiotic resistance in probiotic lactobacilli, 1st edn InTech, Rijeka. 2012:503-12.

166. Tambekar D, Bhutada S. An evaluation of probiotic potential of *Lactobacillus* sp. from milk of domestic animals and commercial available probiotic preparations in prevention of enteric bacterial infections. Recent Research in Science and Technology. 2010;2(10).

167. Ammor MS, Flórez AB, Mayo B. Antibiotic resistance in non-enterococcal lactic acid bacteria and *bifidobacteria*. Food microbiology. 2007;24(6):559-70.

168. Coppola R, Succi M, Tremonte P, Reale A, Salzano G, Sorrentino E. Antibiotic susceptibility of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* strains isolated from Parmigiano Reggiano cheese. Le Lait. 2005;85(3):193-204.

169. Jose N, Bunt C, Hussain M. Comparison of microbiological and probiotic characteristics of lactobacilli isolates from dairy food products and animal rumen contents.

Microorganisms. 2015;3(2):198-212.

170. Mathiesen ÁM. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2012. FAO; 2015.

171. Santini C, Baffoni L, Gaggia F, Granata M, Gasbarri R, Di Gioia D, et al.

Characterization of probiotic strains: an application as feed additives in poultry against Campylobacter jejuni. Int J Food Microbiol. 2010;141:S98-S108.

172. Escamilla-Montes R, Luna-Gonzalez A, del Carmen Flores-Miranda M, Alvarez-Ruiz P, Fierro-Coronado JA, Sánchez-Ortiz AC, et al. Isolation and characterization of potential probiotic bacteria suitable for mollusk larvae cultures. The Thai Journal of Veterinary Medicine. 2015;45(1):11.

173. Padmavathi T, Bhargavi R, Priyanka PR, Niranjan NR, Pavitra PV. Screening of potential probiotic lactic acid bacteria and production of amylase and its partial purification. J Genet Eng Biotechnol. 2018;16(2):357-62.

174. Kim M, Lee S-J, Seul K-J, Park Y-M, Ghim S-Y. Characterization of antimicrobial substance produced by *Lactobacillus paraplantarum* KNUC25 isolated from kimchi. Korean J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2009;37(1):24-32.

175. Toba T, Yoshioka E, Itoh T. Potential of *Lactobacillus gasseri* isolated from infant faeces to produce bacteriocin. Lett Appl Microbiol. 1991;12(6):228-31.

176. Mani-López E, Palou E, López-Malo A. Probiotic viability and storage stability of yogurts and fermented milks prepared with several mixtures of lactic acid bacteria. J Dairy Sci. 2014;97(5):2578-90.

177. Donkor ON, Nilmini S, Stolic P, Vasiljevic T, Shah N. Survival and activity of selected probiotic organisms in set-type yoghurt during cold storage. Int Dairy J 2007;17(6):657-65.

178. Damin MR, Minowa E, Alcantara MR, Oliveira MN. Effect of cold storage on culture viability and some rheological properties of fermented milk prepared with yogurt and probiotic bacteria. J Texture Stud. 2008;39(1):40-55.

179. Karimi G, Jamaluddin R, Mohtarrudin N, Ahmad Z, Khazaai H, Parvaneh M. Singlespecies versus dual-species probiotic supplementation as an emerging therapeutic strategy for obesity. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2017;27(10):910-8. 180. Nualkaekul S, Deepika G, Charalampopoulos D. Survival of freeze dried *Lactobacillus plantarum* in instant fruit powders and reconstituted fruit juices. Food Res Int 2012;48(2):627-33.

181. Boza-Méndez E, López-Calvo R, Cortes-Munoz M. Innovative dairy products development using probiotics: challenges and limitations. Probiotics: IntechOpen; 2012.

182. Sheehan VM, Ross P, Fitzgerald GF. Assessing the acid tolerance and the technological robustness of probiotic cultures for fortification in fruit juices. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol. 2007;8(2):279-84.

183. Brasil. Alimentos com alegações de propriedades funcionais e ou de saúde, novos alimentos/ingredientes, substâncias bioativas e probióticos–lista de alegações de propriedade funcional aprovadas. Ministério da Saúde Brasília; 2008.

184. Gueimonde M, Delgado S, Mayo B, Ruas-Madiedo P, Margolles A, de los Reyes-Gavilán CG. Viability and diversity of probiotic *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* populations included in commercial fermented milks. Food Res Int. 2004;37(9):839-50.

185. Mortazavian A, Ehsani M, Mousavi S, Rezaei K, Sohrabvandi S, Reinheimer J. Effect of refrigerated storage temperature on the viability of probiotic micro-organisms in yogurt. Int J Dairy Technol. 2007;60(2):123-7.

186. Lourens-Hattingh A, Viljoen B. Growth and survival of a probiotic yeast in dairy products. Food Res Int. 2001;34(9):791-6.

187. Panesar PS, Shinde C. Effect of Storage on Syneresis, pH, *Lactobacillus acidophilus* Count, *Bifidobacterium bifidum* Count of Aloe vera Forti**fi**ed Probiotic Yoghurt.
Current Research in Dairy Sciences. 2012;4(1):17-23.

188. Maragkoudakis PA, Zoumpopoulou G, Miaris C, Kalantzopoulos G, Pot B,
Tsakalidou E. Probiotic potential of *Lactobacillus* strains isolated from dairy products. Int
Dairy J. 2006;16(3):189-99.

189. Kadiya KS, Kanawjia S, Solanki AK. Survival of free and encapsulated probiotic bacteria and their effect on the sensory properties of Quarg cheese. Int J Fermented Foods. 2014;3(1):59.

190. Du Toit M, Franz C, Dicks L, Schillinger U, Haberer P, Warlies B, et al.

Characterisation and selection of probiotic lactobacilli for a preliminary minipig feeding trial and their effect on serum cholesterol levels, faeces pH and faeces moisture content. Int J Food Microbiol. 1998;40(1-2):93-104.

191. Ranadheera CS, Evans C, Adams M, Baines S. In vitro analysis of gastrointestinal tolerance and intestinal cell adhesion of probiotics in goat's milk ice cream and yogurt.Food Res Int. 2012;49(2):619-25.

192. Higashikawa F, Noda M, Awaya T, Nomura K, Oku H, Sugiyama M. Improvement of constipation and liver function by plant-derived lactic acid bacteria: a double-blind, randomized trial. Nutrition. 2010;26(4):367-74.

193. Randazzo CL, Restuccia C, Romano AD, Caggia C. *Lactobacillus casei*, dominant species in naturally fermented Sicilian green olives. Int J Food Microbiol. 2004;90(1):9-14.

194. Joyce SA, Gahan CG. The gut microbiota and the metabolic health of the host. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2014;30(2):120-7.

195. Champagne CP, Raymond Y, Guertin N, Martoni CJ, Jones ML. Growth of *Lactobacillus reuteri* NCIMB 30242 during yogurt fermentation and bile salt hydrolysis activity in the product. Dairy science & technology. 2016;96(2):173-84.

196. Ma C, Zhang S, Lu J, Zhang C, Pang X, Lv J. Screening for Cholesterol-LoweringProbiotics from Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated from Corn Silage Based on ThreeHypothesized Pathways. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(9):2073.

197. Gu J-J, Hofmann AF, Ton-Nu H-T, Schteingart CD, Mysels KJ. Solubility of calcium salts of unconjugated and conjugated natural bile acids. J Lipid Res. 1992;33(5):635-46.

198. Lee W, Lucey J. Formation and physical properties of yogurt. Asian-Australas J Anim Sci. 2010;23(9):1127-36.

199. Domaga**f**a J. Instrumental texture, syneresis and microstructure of yoghurts prepared from goat, cow and sheep milk. Int J Food Prop. 2009;12(3):605-15.

200. Sah B, Vasiljevic T, McKechnie S, Donkor O. Physicochemical, textural and rheological properties of probiotic yogurt fortified with fibre-rich pineapple peel powder during refrigerated storage. LWT-Food Science and Technology. 2016;65:978-86.

201. Liu J, Nakamura A, Corredig M. Addition of pectin and soy soluble polysaccharide

affects the particle size distribution of casein suspensions prepared from acidified skim milk. J Agric Food Chem. 2006;54(17):6241-6.





VITA

NAME	MS.PHONCHANOK PAONGPHAN
DATE OF BIRTH	29 Jan 1993
PLACE OF BIRTH	Undonthani
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	Bachelor of Science (Microbiology) B.Sc
	Mahasarakham University
	Master of Science (M.Sc.) in Biomedical Science
	Srinakharinwirot University
HOME ADDRESS	96 Moo 1 Tambon Phen, Auphur Phen.
	Udonthani 41150, Thailand